American University in Cairo AUC Knowledge Fountain

Theses and Dissertations

Student Research

6-1-2012

# Exploring the biodiversity of anammox in Atlantis II and Kebrit brine pools' interfaces

Ibrahim Farag

Follow this and additional works at: https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds

#### **Recommended Citation**

#### **APA** Citation

Farag, I. (2012). *Exploring the biodiversity of anammox in Atlantis II and Kebrit brine pools' interfaces* [Master's Thesis, the American University in Cairo]. AUC Knowledge Fountain. https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds/1180

#### **MLA** Citation

Farag, Ibrahim. *Exploring the biodiversity of anammox in Atlantis II and Kebrit brine pools' interfaces*. 2012. American University in Cairo, Master's Thesis. *AUC Knowledge Fountain*. https://fount.aucegypt.edu/etds/1180

This Master's Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Research at AUC Knowledge Fountain. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of AUC Knowledge Fountain. For more information, please contact thesisadmin@aucegypt.edu.

The American University in Cairo School of Sciences and Engineering

## Exploring the Biodiversity of Anammox in Atlantis II and Kebrit Brine Pools' Interfaces

A Thesis Submitted to The Biology Department



By Ibrahim Farouk Farag

Under the supervision of Dr. Rania Siam March 2012

#### The American University in Cairo

#### Exploring the Biodiversity of Anammox in Atlantis II and Kebrit Brine Pools' Interfaces

A Thesis Submitted by

Ibrahim Farouk Farag

To the Biotechnology Graduate Program

March/ 2012

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for The degree of Master of Science

Has been approved by

Thesis Committee Supervisor/Chair

Affiliation

Thesis Committee Reader/Examiner

Affiliation

Thesis Committee Reader/Examiner

Affiliation

Thesis Committee Reader/External Examiner

Affiliation

Dept.	Chair	/Director	
Doper	GIIGII		

Dean

Date

## **D**EDICATION

THIS WORK IS DEDICATED TO MY PARENTS, MY WIFE AND MY BELOVED SONS. WITHOUT THIER CONTINUOUS SUPPORT AND ENCOURAGEMENT, I WOULDN'T BE ABLE TO REACH MY AIM.

### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

It is an honor to acknowledge all the people who contributed to this work and made it possible. First of all, I would like to thank and express my deepest gratitude to the main supervisor of this dissertation, Associate Prof. Dr. Rania Siam. Dr. Siam was always helpful, supportive and a source of inspiration. I would like also to thank Assistant Prof. Dr. Ahmed Moustafa and Mr. Hazem Sharaf for their help in the computational analyses part. Dr. Ahmed A. Sayed, Research Associate Professor, for helping me in the sequencing part. Dr. Mohamed Ghazy and Mr. Amged Ouf for their efforts in DNA extraction and their continuous guidance in the laboratory.

I would like to thank all my colleagues in the Biotechnology master program especially M. Abouelsoud, Rehab, Yasmine and Ghada.

I would like to acknowledge both Yousef Jamel Science and Technology Research Center (STRC) and King Abdullah University for Science and Technology (KAUST) for funding my master studies and research.

#### Exploring the Biodiversity of Anammox in Atlantis II and Kebrit Brine Pools' Interfaces

By Ibrahim F. Farag Under the supervision of Dr. Rania Siam

### ABSTRACT

The Red Sea brine pools are unique environments to assess the biochemical adaptation of marine bacteria. The role of nitrogen in marine biogeochemistry is central and greatly influences the diverse elements including carbon and phosphorus.

Anammox communities play a significant role in the total nitrogen loss especially in deep sea and deep ocean ecosystems. Despite this, the biodiversity of Anammox bacteria have not been previously investigated in any brine pool ecosystems. With the advances of the metagenomics based approaches, the exploration of the yet uncultured microbial communities including the Anammox bacteria has taken different perspectives. Anammox communities are currently analyzed using 16srRNA with some unique functional genes e.g. hydrazine oxidase, hydrazine synthase and Cytochrome cd1-containing nitrite reductase encoding gene nirS.

In this study, we examined the biodiversity of Anammox microbial communities inhabiting two Red sea brine pools' Atlantis II and Kebrit deep interface layers. Comparative and comprehensive analysis of the unique and specific functional gene, hydrazine oxidase was performed. Anammox hydrazine oxidase gene was amplified from DNA isolated from the 0.1 µm serial fractionation of the water samples of Atlantis II interface layer and Kebrit upper interface layer. hzoA/hzoB libraries were constructed and a total of 81 and 44 specific clones were identified in the interface layers of Atlantis II deep and Kebrit deep, respectively. The identified sequences matched hydrazine oxidases from uncultured *Planctomycetes*. Alpha and beta diversity analyses were performed using statistical analysis tests and multiple regression analysis was done to assess the level of uniqueness of the Anammox bacteria inhabiting the examined samples using Unifrac. Eight and nine different Anammox related phylotypes were identified in Atlantis II and Kebrit upper interface layers, respectively. Scalindua species predominated the sampled interface brine layers. Moreover, the principle component analysis depicted a unique presence of Anammox communities. This study addresses and identifies the unique microbial community in the interface of the Red Sea Brine Pools.

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

CHAPTER 1: - LITERATURE REVIEW	10		
1.1 ATLANTIS II DEEP AND KEBRIT DEEP RED SEA BRINE POOLS	10		
1.1.1GENERAL DESCRIPTION	10		
1.1.2 PHYSICOCHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS	11		
1.1.3 MICROBIOLOGICAL STUDIES: AN OVERVIEW	11		
1.2 NITROGEN CYCLE	12		
1.2.1 NITROGEN FIXATION	12		
1.2.2NITRIFICATION	13		
1.2.3 DENITRIFICATION	14		
1.2.4 ANAMMOX	14		
1.3 ANAMMOX (ANAEROBIC AMMONIUM OXIDIZERS)	15		
1.3.1 DISCOVERY	15		
1.3.2 ANAMMOX MOLECULAR AND CELLULAR PHYSIOLOGY	16		
1.3.3 ANAMMOX PHYLOGENY	17		
1.3.4 ANAMMOX HABITATS AND ECOSYSTEMS	18		
1.3.5 ADVANCES IN ANAMMOX MOLECULAR DETECTION APPROACHES	19		
1.4 METAGENOMICS AND MICROBIAL DIVERSITY	20		
CHAPTER 2: - MATERIALS AND METHODS	22		
2.1 SAMPLE COLLECTION AND DNA ISOLATION	22		
2.2 METAGENOMIC LIBRARIES CONSTRUCTION AND PROTEIN BASED PHYLO	GENY 22		
2.3 HZO AMPLIFICATION, LIBRARY CONSTRUCTION AND SEQUENCING	23		
2.4 RED SEA ATLANTIS II AND KEBRIT INTERFACE HZO SEQUENCE ANALYSIS	23		
2.4.1 ALPHA AND BETA DIVERSITY ANALYSES	23		
2.4.2 PHYLOGENETIC TREE BASED ON THE DEDUCED AMINO ACID SEQUENCES IF			
HZOA/ HZO B	24		
2.7 COMPARATIVE STUDIES BETWEEN ANAMMOX COMMUNITIES USING UNIF	RAC		
	24		

#### CHAPTER 3: - RESULTS

3.1 METAGENOMIC ANALYSIS OF RED SEA ATLANTIS II AND KEBRIT INTERFAC ANAMMOX BACTERIA	E FOR 26
3.1.1 DATASET OF ATLANTIS II DEEP AND KEBRIT DEEP METAGENOME	26
3.1.2 BACTERIAL PHYLA ABUNDANCE IN THE INTERFACE LAYERS OF ATLANTIS II AND KEBRIT DEEP	I DEEP 26
3.2 IDENTIFICATION OF HZOA/HZOB GENE FROM BOTH ATLANTIS II DEEP AND K DEEP INTERFACES	EBRIT 26
3.3 COMPUTATIONAL AND STATISTICAL ANALYSES OF ATLANTIS II AND K INTERFACES ANAMMOX BATERIAL COMMUNITIES	EBRIT 27
3.3.1 ALPHA DIVERSITY ANALYSIS OF ANAMMOX BACTERIA EXIST IN ATLAN INTERFACE AND KEBRIT UPPER INTERFACE ECOSYSTEMS	TIS II 27
3.3.2 BETA DIVERSITY ANALYSIS OF ANAMMOX BACTERIA INHABIT THE EXAMLAYERS BY USING £LIBSHUFF	MINED 28
3.3.3 PHYLOGENETIC ANALYSIS OF (HZOA/HZOB) SEQUENCES RETRIEVED ATLANTIS II DEEP INTERFACE AND KEBRIT DEEP UPPER INTERFACE LIBRARIES	FROM 28
3.3.4 SEQUENCING DATA ANALYSIS USING BALSTX	29
3.4 COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF ANAMMOX COMMUNITIES	30
CHAPTER 4: - DISCUSSION	32
REFERENCES	38
FIGURES	48
TABLES	64
APPENDIX	71

#### LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1 THE MAIN FEATURES OF THE METAGENOMICS LIBRARIES CONSTRUCT	ED
FROM THE INTERFACE LAYERS OF ATLANTIS II DEEP AND KEBRIT DEEP	55
TABLE 2 BLASTX RESULTS OF THE 81 SEQUENCES RETRIEVED FROM ATLANTIS	II
INTERFACE LIBRARY	56
TABLE 3 BLASTX RESULTS OF THE 44 SEQUENCES RETRIEVED FROM KEBRIT UP	PER
INTERFACE LAYER	57
TABLE 4 THE NUMBER OF SEQUENCES, OBSERVED HZO BASED OTUS $_{(0.03)}$ , AND A	LPHA
DIVERSITY INDICES OF THE SAMPLES UNDER STUDY	58
TABLE 5 THE ECOSYSTEMS INVOLVED IN THE COMPARATIVE STUDY AND NUM	BER OF
HZO RECOVERED FROM EACH ENVIRONMENT	59
TABLE 6 THE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE ANAMMOX COMMUNITIES EXISTING	IN THE
ECOSYSTEMS UNDER STUDY USING P-TEST	60
TABLE 7 THE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE ANAMMOX COMMUNITIES EXISTING	IN THE
ECOSYSTEMS UNDER STUDY USING P-TEST	60
TABLE 8 LINEAGE SPECIFIC TEST	61

SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE.1 THE NUMBER OF ATLANTIS II INTERFACE AND KEBRIT UPPER INTERFACE LAYERS RELATED HITS AND ITS CORRESPONDING PERCENTAGES, WHICH ASSIGNED TO DIFFERENT BACTERIAL PHYLA AS IDENTIFIED USING MG-RAST SERVER CLOUD 72

SUPPLEMENTARYTABLE 2SHOWSTHEDISTRIBUTIONOFPLANCTOMYCETESRELATED HITSRECOVEREDFROMATLANTISIIINTERFACEANDKEBRITUPPERINTERFACE LAYERSAMONG ITSDIFFERENCTSPECIES73

viii

### **LIST OF FIGURES**

FIGURE 1 THE LOCATION OF RED SEA BRINE POOLS	48
FIGURE 2 PHYSICOCHEMICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF ATLANTIS II DEEP AND KEBRIT	
DEEP	50
FIGURE 3 THE ANAMMOX PATHWAY	51
FIGURE 4 THE MAJOR PATHWAYS IN THE MARINE NITROGEN BIOGEOCHEMICAL	
CYCLE	52
FIGURE 5 THE STRUCTURE OF THE ANAMMOX UNIQUE COMPARTMENT	
(ANAMMOXOSOME)	53
FIGURE 6 PHYLOGENETIC REPRESENTATION OF THE PHYLUM PLANCTOMYCETES	54
FIGURE 7 THE OVERALL DISTRIBUTION OF BOTH PLANCTOMYCETES CULTURED AND	
UNCULTURED SPECIES AS IDENTIFIED BY MG-RAST SERVER CLOUD	55
FIGURE 8 PCR AMPLIFICATION RESULTS OF HZOA/HZOB FROM BOTH KEBRIT UPPER	
INTERFACE AND ATLANTIS II INTERFACE LAYERS	56
FIGURE 9 RAREFACTION CURVE PLOTTED TO INDICATE THE COVERAGE LEVEL OF	
ANAMMOX PHYLOTYPES INHABITING ATLANTIS II INTERFACE LAYER	57
FIGURE 10 RAREFACTION CURVE PLOTTED TO INDICATE THE COVERAGE LEVEL OF	
ANAMMOX PHYLOTYPE INHABTING KEBRIT UPPER INTERFACE LAYER	58
FIGURE 11 THE EVOLUTIONARY DISTANCE BETWEEN HZO SEQUENCES RECOVERED	
FROM THE SAMPLES UNDER STUDY	59
FIGURE 12 APPROXIMATE LIKELIHOOD PHYLOGENETIC TREE BASED ON HZO	
SEQUENCES DEDUCED AMINO ACIDS ALIGNMENTS.	60
FIGURE 13 THE PHYLOGENETIC RELATIONS BETWEEN ALL HZO SEQUENCES UNDER	
STUDY	63
FIGURE 14 WEIGHTED UNIFRAC PRINCIPAL COMPONENT ANALYSIS (PCOA) OF HZO	
SEQUENCES	64

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1 UNIFRAC CLUSTER MODEL OF THE TWO RED SEA BRINEPOOLS AND OTHER SIMILAR ECOSYSTEMS71

### CHAPTER 1: - LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 1.1 Atlantis II Deep and Kebrit Deep Red Sea Brine Pools

#### **1.1.1: - General Description**

The Red Sea was formed 3-5 million years ago upon the divergent movement of the Arabian and the African tectonic plates [1], [2]. Recent oceanographic measurements indicated that the Red Sea is an ocean basin formed by splitting apart continents, a phenomenon known as "ocean in statue nascendi" [3], [4]. This is evidenced by the current structure of the Red Sea Axial Rift. This Rift expands toward the south and is subdivided into four different regions namely; the Northern Region, the Transitional Region, the Multi-deeps Region and the Rift Valley region (fig 1) [2], [3], [5]. In the past 50 years, more than 25 Red Sea Brine Pools have been discovered and most of them are located in the northern and the central regions of the Red Sea Axial Rift [3]. Among those brine filled pools, Atlantis II is located in the Central Rift around (21 ° 20), extending 60 km<sup>2</sup> wide and 2200 m deep. It is characterized by the presence of thick, metalliferous deposits underlying its deepest layer [1]. Miller et al. discovered this pool using the Atlantis II vessel in 1965 [6]. The Atlantis II brine pool consists of four physically separated layers; the deepest one is the Lower Convective Layer (LCL), which extends from the brine bottom to 2047 m below the sea surface. LCL is over-layered by three stratified UCLs (UCL1, UCL2, and UCL3) exhibiting remarkable differences in salinity and temperature. Above the two brine layers, there is a transitional zone separating that brine pool from the above seawater and extending from 1900 to 2000 m below sea surface; this layer is known as the Interface Layer. Atlantis II brine is known by its hydrothermal activities and this is emphasized by the gradual increases of its temperature over time as reported in the measurements taken from 1965 to 2008 [1], [3], [5].

The second brine pool addressed in this study is Kebrit Deep. It was discovered in 1971 during the *Valdivia* expedition [5]. It is located in the northern region of the Axial Rift at  $(24 \circ 44'N, 36 \circ 17'E)$  taking an oval shape, which extends for 1 to 2.5 km<sup>2</sup> wide, and ranges from 7m to 1.5 kilometers in depth [4], [5], [7], [8]. The thickness of the brine itself is 84 m with slight acidic pH and no dissolved oxygen[7].

#### **1.1.2 Physicochemical Characteristics**

Atlantis II is considered to be the saltiest and the hottest Red Sea brine pool. Its temperature reaches up to 70°C at LCL and its salt concentrations are 25.4% (about 7.5 times higher than the normal seawater) [3], [5]. It is also characterized by the presence of metalliferous deposits due to the high concentrations of heavy metals (iron, zinc, copper, etc.). It was reported that nitrogen and methane are highly abundant in the brine with smaller fractions of carbon dioxide, ethane and hydrogen sulfide [3], [8]. On the other hand, the Kebrit Deep Brine Pool, its name being derived from the Arabic word for sulfur, shows a sharp increase in its salinity from 4% to 26%. It also exhibits an increase in temperature from 21.6° C to 23.4° C. Methane and Hydrogen Sulfide are significantly detected in the Kebrit brine pool with smaller amounts of nitrogen and no dissolved oxygen. The seawater/brine interface is characterized by a high-density gradient that acts as a sieve trapping both organic and inorganic substances[5], [7].

#### 1.1.3 Microbiological Studies: - an Overview

Microbiological analyses of Atlantis II date back to the late 1960s. Culture dependent approaches didn't support the growth on all media tested, which has driven a conclusion that Atlantis II Deep is a very harsh environment that can't support the existence of any forms of life. This conclusion quickly changed after sulfate-reducing bacteria had been successfully isolated by Truper *et al.* 1969 [9]. In 1990, four isolates of *Flexistipes sinusarabici* were isolated, which were characterized later as a new phylum known as *Deferribacteres* [10].

Microbiological studies in Kebrit have then been conducted using contemporary approaches; phylogenetic analyses using primers specific for both bacterial and archaeal 16srRNA have been carried out. Six bacterial and five archaeal unique clones have been obtained. The six bacterial sequences are branched between *Aquificales* and *Thermotogales*. Of the five archaeal clones, three belonged to *Euryarchaeota* group II and III, while the other two clustered in a separate branch [4]. This study has been followed by cultivation-based trials; two rod shaped species belonging to the genus *Halanaerobium* were successfully isolated. Phylogenetic analyses of the isolates

16srRNA sequences revealed that its sequences have been detected in the previous study [4], [7].

With advances in the metagenomics' approaches, an initiative to explore the Red Sea Brine Pools and the water column overlying it has been taking place. 16srDNA profiles of the microbes inhabiting the water column covering the Red Sea Brine Pool, Atlantis II, have been examined at depths of 50m, 200m, and 1500m. The obtained results of the bacterial pyrotags analyses revealed the dominance of *Cyanobacteria* in the surface layers, whereas *Proteobacteria* prevails in the deeper layers. The archaeal pyrotags analyses showed the prevalence of *Euryarchaeota* and *Crenarchaeota* in the upper and the lower layers, respectively[2]. Further investigations were done to determine the metabolic capacities of microbes present in the Atlantis II Brine Pool. The investigations concluded that bacteria inhabiting this brine pool might possess the genetic capability to metabolize hydrothermally produced aromatic compounds[11].

#### **1.2 Nitrogen Cycle: A Marine Perspective**

Nitrogen is the most abundant molecule on earth. It is essential for all forms of life as it's an important constituent of most biochemical molecules (e.g. nucleic acids, amino acids, proteins etc.). It exists in different forms ammonium, nitrate, nitrogen oxides, azides and hydrazines. It is also involved in many industrial applications such as the use of nitrates as fertilizers and hydrazines as rocket fuel.

#### **1.2.1 Nitrogen Fixation**

Atmospheric nitrogen is the largest reservoir of molecular nitrogen, which is commonly fixed to enter the biological nitrogen cycle through the activities of some groups of bacteria, archaea and fungi. In terrestrial habitats, these microbes establish symbiotic relationships with plants and provide it with the fixed nitrogen forms [12]. In marine habitats, biologically available nitrogen is a crucial factor in the productivity of the ecosystem. The efficiency of nitrogen fixation process in marine ecosystems is controversial [13]. It was perceived that N<sub>2</sub> fixation processes are not abundant in the marine ecosystems and that the major source of fixed nitrogen is the N<sub>2</sub> run-off from the non-marine sources. This notion was based on the hypothesis that most of marine organisms can utilize inorganic nitrogen sources like ammonium, nitrate and nitrite but not fixing N<sub>2</sub> [14]. In fact N<sub>2</sub> fixation in marine habitats is underestimated even after the discovery of the  $N_2$  fixation capabilities of the ubiquitous cyanobacteria (*Trichodesmium*) [14]. However, after the advances of molecular techniques, Zehr *et al.* 2003 established  $N_2$  fixers profiling approach using a marker gene *nif* H, which is conserved among  $N_2$  fixing bacteria [15], [16]. This approach together with the <sup>15</sup>N tracing experiments paved the way to the discovery of key players in the  $N_2$  fixation cycle [17]. It was found that both *Trichodesmium* and other *diazotrophs* are the major suppliers of fixed nitrogen compounds in different marine ecosystems [14], [17].

Determining the spatio-temporal role of marine microbes in the nitrogen fixation process in marine habitats has been a challenging task. N2 fixation processes is also found in close association with nitrogen loss through the activities of denitrifiers and Anammox bacteria [13].

#### 1.2.2 Nitrification

Nitrification is the oxidation of ammonia to nitrite and then to nitrate under aerobic conditions. These reactions are mainly carried out by the activities of two distinct groups of chemolithotrophic bacteria including Nitrosomonas (oxidizing ammonia to nitrite) and Nitrobacter (oxidizing nitrite to nitrate) [12]. Nitrification reactions are controlled by a set of nitrite oxidoreductases and nitrate monooxygenases that is regulated by the levels of ammonia and oxygen present [13]. Nitrosomonas and Nitrobacter species belong to Beta and Gamma subclasses of the phylum Proteobacteria, respectively [12]. These bacteria exploit the energy produced through the nitrification process as their sole energy source [15]. Furthermore, this process fuels both Anammox bacteria and denitrifiers with the required oxidized nitrogen substrates that act as electron acceptors [18]. Recently, it was discovered that a marine archaeon affiliated with the phylum *Crenarchaeota* could grow chemolithotrophically by converting ammonia to nitrite under aerobic conditions. This archaeon belongs to a group known as Ammonium Oxidizing Archaea (AOA) [19]. Moreover, recent synopsis on the kinetics of the AOA revealed that it might outnumber the Ammonia Oxidizing Bacteria (AOB) at nutrient deprived ecosystems. In photic zones AOA is more light tolerant than AOB [20]. In addition to the autotrophic nitrifiers, a group of heterotrophic nitrifying bacteria and fungi has been also detected [21].

#### **1.2.3 Denitrification**

Denitrification is a crucial process in the nitrogen biogeochemical cyclethat was believed – until recently – to be the only way for  $N_2$  production [22]. This concept has been completely upended after the discovery of Anammox and its roles in the nitrogen cycle [23]. The pathway is carried out under limited oxygen conditions and consists of four consecutive steps. In the first step, nitrate is reduced to nitrite and this is mainly attained by the action of nitrate reductases. At this step, this process is split into two distinct pathways, the canonical denitrification and dissimilatory nitrate reduction to ammonia (DNRA). In the former, nitrite is further reduced to nitrite oxide, then to nitric oxide and finally the nitrogen is released back to the atmosphere. Where in the later, nitrate is reduced into ammonia [22], [24]. It is worth noting that Thioploca and *Thiomargarita* are the only genera known to carry out DNRA [25]. The microbial key players in the canonical denitrification process belong to heterotrophic bacteria e.g. Paracoccus denitrificans, however it was reported that some autotrophic bacteria are capable of denitrification e.g. Thiobacillus denitrificans. Generally, taxonomy doesn't strictly determine denitrification. However, most of these bacteria are ranked within the subdivisions of the phylum *Proteobacteria* [26]. Beyond the bacterial groups, it was also discovered that some autotrophic and heterotrophic archaea possess the necessary machineries to undergo denitrification [25], [26].

#### **1.2.4 Anammox (ANaerobic AMMonium OXidizers)**

About two decades ago, Anammox has been determined to be one of the leading causes of nitrogen loss [23]. The anaerobic ammonium oxidation was carried out by a group of uncultured *Planctomycetes* through coupling ammonium - as electron donor - to nitrite - as electrons acceptor - in an energetically favorable reaction to generate dinitrogen [22], [27]. This reaction takes place in special intracellular compartments called Anammoxosome[28]. It is believed that Anammox communities contribute by more than 50% in eliminating the fixed nitrogen forms from marine water bodies. This reaction releases the required energy to support the chemolithotrophic nature of Anammox bacteria [22]. Genome analyses and metabolic reconstruction experiments on *Kuenenia Sttutgartiensis* revealed the presence of some peculiar intermediates in this pathway such as hydrazine. It also reported that over 200 genes were employed to carry out the catabolic and respiratory functions in the Anammox process [29]. Out of

the 200 genes, nine genes belong to octahaeme cytochrome c hydroxylamine/hydrazine oxidoreductases [29], [30]. These genes encode for functional enzymes that mediate the Anammox pathway.

The presence of Anammox activities in environmental samples was first reported by analyzing marine sediments obtained from the Danish coast using the labeled nitrogen technique [31]. The existence of Anammox bacteria in the suboxic zones of the Black sea was revealed by 16srRNA analyses [32], [33].

So far, five genera belong to Anammox bacteria (the uncultured group of *Planctomycetes* phyla) have been discovered. These genera are *Kuenenia*, *Anammoxoglobus*, *Scalindua*, *Jettenia* and *Brocadia*. It is also worth mentioning that these genera have been isolated from both Anammox enrichment cultures and different environmental samples [34].

#### **1.3 ANAMMOX**

#### 1.3.1 Discovery

In 1965, a profound decrease in ammonia levels has been detected in anoxic basins [22]. This observation has pointed out that a possible anaerobic oxidation process may be taking place. However, almost for the rest of the century, heterotrophic denitrifiers were considered to be the only fate of fixed nitrogen loss in marine environments [22]. These previous notions came from the ability of these denitrifiers to respire nitrate or nitrite producing nitric or nitrous oxides, which are further processed to form  $N_2$  gas [26].

In the beginning of 1990s, the missing part of the nitrogen biogeochemical cycle puzzle was solved. In a wastewater treatment plant (Delft, Netherlands), Mulder *et al.* 1995 observed that increasing levels of nitrate and ammonium consumption are accompanied by increasing levels of nitrogen gas [35]. The study also concluded that ammonium is anaerobically oxidized using nitrate or nitrite - as electron acceptor - releasing di-nitrogen gas as a final product. This biological process was given the term "Anammox". A year later, two publications done by Astrid *et al* discussed the microbiological aspect of the Anammox pathway and formulated the first medium to isolate bacterial species harbouring such unique capabilities [23], [36]. This culture

medium was designed to support the autotrophic machineries of Anammox bacteria by providing it with ammonium and nitrite as the sole electron donor and acceptor, respectively. Carbonate was supplied as the sole carbon source. Furthermore, they found that this process is not only restricted to water treatment plants but also found in marine sediments, water columns close to suboxic regions and in oxygen minimum zones (OMZ) [13], [37]. This paved the way for deeper analyses to explore the unique physiology of the Anammox bacteria.

Using <sup>15</sup>N labeled compounds, the Anammox pathway was assembled. It was postulated that hydroxylamine, derived from nitrite, mediates the ammonium oxidation process by acting as an electron acceptor. This results in the formation of hydrazine as an intermediate that is further processed to di nitrogen and a small fraction of nitrite is oxidized into nitrate[38]. (Figure 3)

#### **1.3.2 Anammox Molecular and Cellular Physiology**

Genomic data available on Anammox bacteria have been deciphered through the analysis of the 4.2 Mbps genome draft of Kuenenia Sttutgartiensis published in 2006. This genome has been assembled from metagenomics sequences retrieved from a complex bioreactor continuously supplemented by artificial wastewater enriched with nitrite, ammonia and bicarbonate [29]. Interestingly, it was found that more than 200 genes were involved in the catabolic and respiratory activities of this Anammox species. Among which, nine hydroxylamine oxidase like genes were reported. Additionally, only two genes commonly involved in denitrification were detected. These versatile catabolic capabilities provided Anammox species with the required energy needed for their growth. Furthermore, the Kuenenia genome showed that Anammox bacteria are strictly autotrophic and carbon fixation is accomplished via acetyl-CoA pathway, while the other carbon fixation pathways were absent. Also, it was proved that hydrazine is the source of electrons passing through ferrodoxin to activate both acetyl CoA synthase and CO dehydrogenase. On the other hand, additional enzymes weren't needed to compensate the utilized hydrazines but only to revert electron transport [29].

Apart from Anammox genomic characteristics, Anammox are slow growing bacteria that exhibit long doubling time normally exceeding 10 days. So far, Anammox species couldn't be obtained in pure cultures. However, it was isolated by enrichment cultures technique. Generally, Anammox bacterial cell is coccoid in shape, lacking peptidoglycan and has a protein-like cell wall [39], [40]. Anammox reactions show activity at wide range of temperatures but only exhibit maximum activity at mesophlic temperature range. Nonetheless, it was also observed to be both psychrophilic (Arctic ice and sediments) and thermophilic (hydrothermal vents and hot springs) [41-44]. Anammox bacteria show maximum activity at pH 8 and tolerate oxygen levels up to 0.5% air saturation; they also demonstrate relatively high affinity toward ammonium and nitrite with affinity constant  $\geq 5\mu M$  [45], [46].

Anammox reactions take place in a special compartment known as Anammoxosome. A dense staircase like membrane surrounds the anammoxosome. This membrane is formed of a special type of lipid known as ladderane that acts as a barrier to reduce the toxic effects of the Anammox pathway intermediates such as hydrazine and hydroxylamine. The chemical structure of ladderane displays unique arrangements by linking five cyclobutane moieties attached to a glycerol backbone by ester or ether bonds. The second proposed function of this membrane is to provide the Anammox enzymes with larger space to boost its activity and generate ATP by the proton motive force machineries located on its surface [28], [39], [47].

#### **1.3.3 Anammox Phylogeny**

Anammox bacteria belong to the uncultured group of the phylum *Planctomycetes*. The position of this phylum on the tree of life has been controversial. Previously, rRNA-based analysis showed that *Planctomycetes* were found at the base of the bacterial phylogenetic tree suggesting that it could be one of the first emerged bacteria [48]. Moreover, The compartmentalized structure as well as the presence of single or double membranes around *Planctomycetes*' genetic materials had driven a conclusion that *Planctomycetes* might be the link between the eukaryal and bacterial domains of life [48]. Recently, *Planctomycetes* phylum has been placed together with the phyla, *Verrucomicrobia*, *Chlamydiae*, *Lentisphaerae*, *Poribacteria* and *OP3* in one large superphylum called PVC [49].

However, The genera affiliated to *Planctomycetes* could be divided into two major groups. The first group comprises the heterotrophic cultured representatives and

it includes the genera (*Planctomyces*, *Pirellula*, *Blastopirellula*, *Rhodopirellula*, *Isosphaera*, and *Gemmata*). The second class is known as the extensively diverse autotrophic uncultured group of *Planctomycetes*. This group belongs to the order *Brocadiales* and has been detected in various ecosystems. So far, five Anammox related genera have been identified and these genera are called *Kuenenia*, *Anammoxoglobus*, *Scalindua*, *Jettenia*, and *Brocadia* [34].

#### **1.3.4 Anammox Habitats and Ecosystems**

Anammox bacteria are believed to be more widespread than was originally assumed. Generally Anammox bacteria exist in the anaerobic niches at the oxicsuboxic areas located in water column and sediments. However, following its discovery in the wastewater treatment facility in Delft, Anammox could be located in wide arrays of ecosystems [40]. Although, environmental Anammox activities were first reported in the Danish coast but its real existence was verified through the 16srRNA analysis done on the largest anoxic reservoir the Black Sea [31], [32], [33]. Afterwards, it was found in different marine coasts, water column, sea surface, subsurface sediments and estuary ecosystems [50], [51]. It was also detected in fresh water lakes such as Lake Tanganyika in East Africa [52]. Anammox existence is not limited to mesophilic habitats. It was also found in 5-deep sea hydrothermal vents located in Mid-Atlantic ridge and in a hydrothermal vent located in Guayamas basin [43], [50]. Its presence was also observed in California and Nevada hot springs, Arctic ice and Arctic sea sediments [41], [42], [44].

To explore the Anammox-associated communities, a labeled nitrogen analysis based study was performed on Black sea water samples. This revealed that Anammox bacterial communities are more likely to exist in direct or indirect association with aerobic ammonium oxidizers (nitrifying bacteria) in order to supply it with the required nitrate [53].

The Anammox environmental studies done so far showed that Anammox related genera exhibit habitat preferences. This was emphasized by the usual presence of the genera *Kuenenia*, *Anammoxoglobus*, *Jettenia*, and *Brocadia* in fresh water ecosystems. While *Scalindua* family is generally found in marine habitats, its presence in fresh water ecosystems was also detected [34].

#### **1.3.5.** Advances in Anammox Molecular Detection Approaches

The first approach used to estimate the contribution of Anammox pathways in the total nitrogen loss was isotope-labeling technique. In this approach, the tested samples were incubated with a mixture of  ${}^{15}NH_4$  and  ${}^{14}NO_2$ ; then the Anammox activities were measured using isotope mass spectrometer [54]. The second approach is based on the quantification of the Anammox biomass by measuring the levels of ladderane lipids that specifically present in Anammoxosome membrane [55].

Since Anammox bacteria couldn't be successfully isolated in pure cultures, the molecular detection approaches have been used to explore its presence in different habitats. Several studies have based their observations on the analyses done using primers specifically targeting Anammox 16srRNA. So far, 16srRNA analyses were able to assess the existence and the diversity of the Anammox communities in different ecosystems [56].

With the increased knowledge about Anammox-related enzymes and its roles in the Anammox pathway, studying Anammox communities using functional gene approaches was implemented. Accordingly, Koltz and Stein recommended hydrazine oxidase (*hzo*), a member of octaheme cytochrome C hydroxylamine oxidoreductase protein family, to be used as a phylomarker. The phylomarker *hzo* would help explore the functional Anammox communities since hydrazine oxidases are only detected and identified in Anammox related species [50], [57]. Additionally, two different recent studies done by Ford *et al.* and Harhangi *et al.* in 2011 based their analyses on two different functional phylogenetic markers. These phylomarkers are the Cytochrome cd1-containing nitrite reductase encoding-gene "*nirS*" and hydrazine synthase "*hzsA*" [58], [59]. The only limitation considered when applying these functional phylomarkers based approaches is that the number of sequences available from Anammox enrichment cultures is so scarce.

Hydrazine oxidases (*hzo*) have been employed in different studies to analyze the Anammox communities dwelling different habitats. The first two studies addressed the Anammox diversity using *hzo* in combination with 16srRNA gene were conducted by (Quan and his colleagues in 2008 and 2009); they addressed the diversity of Anammox bacteria present in Anammox bioreactor plants[60], [61]. In 2010, the

presence of Anammox bacteria in high temperature petroleum reservoirs has been detected using both hzo and 16srRNA molecular phylomarkers. The phylomarker hzo was also used to detect the Anammox profiles in different marine ecosystems such as Jiaozhou bay sediments, deep-sea hydrothermal vents in Guayamas basin, Montserrat deep sea tephra deposits, Surface sediments from equatorial pacific, subsurface sediment of South China sea and Arabian sea [50], [62-65]. It was also applied as a functional marker to explore Anammox bacteria inhabiting estuary sediments of Mai Po Nature Reserve and Cape Fear River[50], [51]. Furthermore, samples from wastewater bioreactor and North Carolina ground water, were investigated for its Anammox profiles using hzo[50].

#### **1.4 Metagenomics and Microbial Diversity**

Marine habitats are considered to be the largest ecosystem on earth; it covers approximately 70% of the earth surface area. Marine environments are very diverse in nature ranging from surface sunlit areas that support the growth of photosynthetic microbes to 11,000 m deep ocean areas where microbes with extremophilic characteristics prevail. It also varies greatly in its temperature ranges, pressure, oxygen levels, salt and heavy metal concentrations [66].

Based on the fact that only 0.1% of the microbes are culturable, microbial populations inhabiting any ecosystem including the marine ones were largely underestimated. Recently, with the advances of molecular approaches, sequencing technologies (e.g. Illumnia-Solexa, Roche 454, ABI 3730 XL, etc.) and the emergence of metagenomics field, the microbial populations estimates have been amended and increased noticeably by at least three orders of magnitude[67]. Handelsman and colleagues have first described the term metagenomics in 1998; it defines a cultivation-independent approach to extract all DNA present in a certain niche collectively[68]. This enables the reconstruction of metabolic pathways present in the examined niche through assembling large genomics data and extrapolating its metabolic functions[69]. Additionally, the diversity of the microbial communities dwelling the examined ecosystem is commonly investigated using metagenomics' approaches. These are mainly testing the variations of the 16srRNA as well as other unique functional genes e.g. hydrazine oxidase as a phylomarker of Anammox bacteria[66].

In addition to analyzing the structure of microbial communities, metagenomics can be widely used to screen for novel sequences that encode for enzymes with unique functions. Two strategies are commonly utilized for such purpose; sequence-based and function-based approaches [66]. In the sequence-based approach, the function of the generated sequencing data can be inferred through comparing it to sequences located in different databases. While functional approach is based on the phenotypes or expressed gene products that can be assayed through specific substrates[70]. Different enzymes from marine habitats have been discovered using function-based approaches such as lipases, esterases, chitinases, and cellulases [66].

## **CHAPTER 2: - MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 2.1 Sample Collection and DNA Isolation

During the R/V Aegaeo cruise in spring 2010, water samples were taken from two Red sea brine pools Atlantis II deep and Kebrit deep. Atlantis II brine pool water samples were extracted from Interface, UCL and LCL samples. Samples collected from Kebrit deep were classified into Kebrit upper interface layer, Kebrit lower interface layer, and Kebrit brine samples. Microbial cells were fractionated in all samples collected according to its size by subjecting it to series of Millipore Mixed Cellulose Ester filters with pore sizes  $3\mu$ m,  $0.8\mu$ m and  $0.1\mu$ m. Filters were preserved in sucrose buffer at -20 °C during the expedition and till being transported to AUC genomics labs. Upon reaching the lab, the filters were immediately stored at -80 °C.

This was followed by DNA isolation from 0.1  $\mu$ m filters of Atlantis II interface layer and Kebrit upper interface layer by Mr. Amged Ouf following Rusch *et al.* 2007 protocol [71]. The concentration of the isolated DNA was measured using Picogreen assay using Nanodrop<sup>TM</sup> 3300 Fluorospectrometer.

#### 2.2 Metagenomic Libraries Construction and Protein Based Phylogeny

Approximately 500ng of extracted DNA from each sample was used to construct 454 metagenomics library following GS FLX titanium library protocol. DNA was sheared by nebulization and DNA fragments with size ranges from 400-900 bps were selected by double SPRI method. Subsequently, DNA fragments were amplified using emulsion PCR then underwent through pyrosequencing using (454 life sciences, Branford CT) in the genomic lab, American University in Cairo (AUC). The Red sea metagenomics team at AUC carried out the entire DNA pyrosequencing process.

454 Sequences datasets were analyzed using Metagenome Rapid Annotation using Subsystem Technology (MG-RAST) server cloud. Protein based phylogeny was done for Atlantis II interface and Kebrit upper interface datasets that were analyzed using sequence similarity search tool Blast implemented in the MG-RAST package against Genebank non-redundant (nr) database considering a minimum E-value cut off score  $10^{-5}$  and minimum identity cut off score 70% [72]. *Planctomycetes*-related hits were assigned to its related species and results from both samples were compared.

#### 2.3 hzo Amplification, Library construction and Sequencing

A part of hydrazine oxidase gene (hzo) (approximately 600 bp in length) was amplified using a pair of hz.o specific primers hzoAB4F 5'-TTGARTGTGCATGGTCTAWTGAAAG-3' 5' and hzoAB4R GCTGACCTGACCARTCAGG-3' in a direct PCR approach. PCR reactions were performed following the conditions described by Hirsch et al. 2010 [50]. PCR results were examined on 1% agarose gel by electrophoresis, extracted out of the gel and purified using QIA quick gel extraction kit (QIAGEN, Valencia, CA).

The purified PCR products were ligated to pGEM- T EASY vector following the manufacturer procedure (Promega). Then transformed to Top10 *E.coli* electrocompetent cells using Micropulser electroporation device (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) according to manufacturer procedure. A total of 96 clones from each sample were grown on LB media to be further subjected to DNA extraction using R.E.A.L prep 96 plasmid extraction kit (QIAGEN, Valencia, CA).

A total 96 clones from each library were sequenced using 96-capillary ABI 3730XL DNA analyzer. Cycle sequencing was performed using M13F primer and Big Dye Terminator Kit. Sequences generated were truncated to remove any vector related sequences and further subjected to quality control assessments by "Codoncode Aligner" (Codoncode Corporation, Dedham, MA) to filter sequences with lengths shorter than 300 bps and/or containing ambiguous nucleotides "N" more than 1%.

#### 2.4 Red Sea Atlantis II and Kebrit Interface hzo Sequence Analyses

#### **2.4.1Alpha and Beta Diversity Analyses**

The filtered DNA sequences were aligned together using Clustalw, a multiple sequence alignment (MSA) algorithm[73]. The MSA results obtained were used to generate a distance matrix using dnadist in the PHYLIP package maintaining distance cut-off score 0.03 [50], [74]. The generated matrix was used later to estimate the level of coverage, richness and the evenness of the Anammox communities in the tested

samples. This was achieved by plotting rarefaction curves and calculating alpha diversity non-parametric indices Chao1, Simpson, and Shannon using mothur v.1.18.1 pipeline [75].

To interrogate the distinctions between the structure of Anammox communities inhabiting both Atlantis II and Kebrit interface layers, beta diversity analyses were conducted to estimate the evolutionary distance between both communities using  $\int$ -LIBSHUFF and the number of shared OTUs softwares, which are adopted by mothur v.1.18.1 pipeline [75].

## 2.4.2 Phylogenetic Tree Based on the Deduced Amino Acid Sequences of *hzoA / hzoB*

BlastX(s) of the sequences generated from hydrazine oxidase (*hzo*) libraries of both Atlantis II and Kebrit interface layers were conducted against non-redundant (nr) database using Blastx software installed in our local server maintaining a minimum E-value score  $10^{-5}$ . The best 100 hits were compiled from all sequences matched hydrazine oxidases and the redundant accession numbers were removed.

The isolation source of each accession number present in the hits was detected, and the accessions belong to the same isolation source were clustered using cd-hit server with minimum identity threshold 97%. The deduced amino acid sequences of those clustered hits compiled to construct an hzo A/hzo B dataset. The sequences of the hydrazine oxidase libraries were translated using transeq server supported by European Bioinformatics institute (EBI) website. All protein sequences were aligned together using Muscle and then edited using Jalview. The refined alignment was used to construct a maximum likelihood tree using Phyml [76]. The tree was viewed and edited using Interactive Tree Of Life v2 server (iTOL) [77].

#### 2.4.3 Comparative Studies between Anammox Communities Using UniFrac

A comparative analysis study between Anammox communities inhabiting both Atlantis II, and Kebrit interface layers was conducted using phylogenetic based analyses tests adopted by UniFrac web application package [78]. Moreover, The environments representing the isolation sources of the blastx best hits were implemented in this analysis. In this study, two different statistical values, Unifrac significance test and Ptest, were calculated to describe the relation between the examined Anammox communities. Additionally, a multivariate test, principle component analysis (PCoA), was carried out to reveal the effect of the geographical distribution on the structure of Anammox communities under investigation.

### CHAPTER 3: - RESULTS

## 3.1 Metagenomic Analysis of Red Sea Atlantis II and Kebrit interface for Anammox Bacteria

#### **3.1.1 Dataset of Atlantis II Deep and Kebrit Deep Metagenome**

The general information describing the 454 metagenomics libraries under study showed that Kebrit upper interface library has a larger dataset (more than 1.5 million reads). These reads include approximately 400000 proteins, which are clustered to 365000 different functional categories. Atlantis II deep interface dataset contains approximately 800,000 reads. Of which, only 50000 encode for identified proteins and further grouped into 47000 different functional groups. The data is summarized in (table 1), as provided by MG-RAST Server Cloud [72].

## **3.1.2** Bacterial Phyla Abundance in the Interface Layers of Atlantis II Deep and Kebrit Deep

A quantitative analysis of bacterial phyla inhabiting Atlantis II deep and Kebrit deep was done using annotated proteins based phylogeny executed by MG-RAST server. The 454-metagenomics libraries sequencing data of the interface layers were matched to Genebank database using Blast tools implemented in MG-RAST server. The generated best hits results were curated using E-value cut off score  $10^{-5}$ , and minimum identity cut off value 50%. Accordingly, 295 and 4743 hits were assigned to the phylum *planctomycetes* representing 0.26% and 0.92% of the total bacterial communities inhabiting the interface layers of Atlantis II deep and Kebrit deep respectively (Supplementary table 1). Further analyses were done to explore the distribution of *planctomycetes* related hits. Most of the identified *planctomycetes* reads belonged to the known cultured group and few hits matched uncultured species including Anammox. In Atlantis II Interface, *Planctomycetes* community is largely predominated by the cultured species Pirellula staleyi, representing 41.5% of all *Planctomycetes* related species. The uncultured *Planctomycetes* group identified was insignificant, since only one read was detected. In Kebrit Upper interface layer, the cultured *Planctomycetes* related hits were approximately equally distributed among five different species and more than 90 reads ( $\sim 2\%$ ) were assigned to species belong to the uncultured group of *Planctomycetes*. The data is shown in (Supplementary table 2), and was annotated using MG-RAST Server Cloud

## **3.2 Identification of hzoA/hzoB Gene from both Atlantis II Deep and Kebrit Deep Interfaces**

The diversity of Anammox bacterial communities inhabiting the interface layers of Atlantis II deep and Kebrit deep were tested using primers targeting the functional gene hydrazine oxidase (hzoA/hzoB). Positive amplifications in both Atlantis II and Kebrit deep samples were detected. Consequently, amplified fragments with sizes (~ 600bp) were extracted and used to construct a library for each hydrazine oxidase positive samples and sequenced using ABI 3730XL DNA analyzer. The PCR amplification results are shown in (figure 8).

## **3.3** Computational and Statistical Analyses of Atlantis II and Kebrit Interfaces' Anammox Bacterial Communities

### **3.3.1** Alpha diversity Analysis of Anammox Bacteria Exist in Atlantis II Interface and Kebrit Upper Interface Ecosystems

Alpha diversity has been analyzed for the interface layers under study using mothur pipeline's  $\alpha$  diversity analyses package. Alpha diversity is basically performed to estimate the coverage, the richness and the diversity of the microbial species dwelling the examined samples. In this study, rarefaction curves have been plotted for 81 hydrazine oxidase sequences obtained from Atlantis II interface sequenced clones (figure 9) and 44-hydrazine oxidase sequences recovered from Kebrit upper interface sequenced clones (figure 10). Eight and nine different Anammox phylotypes have been identified within Atlantis and Kebrit analyzed clones, respectively. Both curves have reached asymptote phase and this denotes sufficient coverage of Anammox phylotypes present in both libraries.

Additionally, we applied three non-parametric indices, Chao1, Simpson and Shannon, to conclude Anammox phylotypes richness and diversity. Chao1 used mainly to extrapolate the number of species present in the sample by applying a correction factor to already identified species. Chao1 scores indicated that the estimated number of phylotypes in Atlantis II is almost equal to the number of phylotypes detected by the functional phylomarker approach. For Kebrit Upper Interface, Chao1 score showed that

three Anammox phylotypes were left undetected in the Kebrit sample. Both Simpson and Shannon indices estimate the richness of the sample. The obtained results of both tests implied that the Anammox community in the Kebrit Interface layer is more diverse than the one present in the Atlantis II Interface layer. The overall results of alpha diversity statistical analyses were presented in (table 4).

## **3.3.2** Beta Diversity Analysis of Anammox Bacteria Inhabit the Examined Layers by Using JLIBSHUFF

 $\int$ -LIBSHUFF analysis was performed to gauge the beta diversity among the Anammox communities present in both Atlantis II deep and Kebrit deep interfaces. The results indicated that Anammox community of Atlantis sample is different from those inhabiting the Kebrit sample; dCXY= 0.1401 with P value = <0.0001. Whereas the Anammox species inhabiting Kebrit sample is different from those inhabiting the Atlantis one dCXY= 0.0627 with P value = <0.001. The longest evolutionary distance between both communities is 0.00473.

## **3.3.3** Phylogenetic Analysis of (hzoA/hzoB) Sequences Retrieved from Atlantis II Deep Interface and Kebrit Deep Upper Interface Libraries

To examine the phylogenetic relationships exhibited between true functional Anammox bacterial communities including ours, an hzoA/hzoB sequences based phylogenetic tree was constructed. A total 81 *hzo* positive clones (eight phylotypes) from Atlantis II deep and 44 *hzo* positive clones (nine phylotypes) from Kebrit deep were evolutionarily compared to other Anammox phylotypes originated from diverse ecosystems using its deduced protein sequences, which show high similarity to previously identified *hzo* ( $\geq$  90% similarity). The obtained sequences were aligned to entries from Genebank nr database using blastx and the first 100 hits for each sequence were retrieved maintaining a 90% minimum identity cut off. Non-redundant blastx matches were clustered according to its isolation sources and the unique OTUs (0.03) within each cluster were identified. All unique OTUs were compiled to construct our *hzoA/hzoB* phylogeny dataset. Accordingly, Our sequences were compared to the phylogeny dataset and the relations were displayed in one phylogenetic tree.

The overall results imply that ( $\sim 60\%$ ) of our sequences are closely related to hydrazine oxidases isolated from different marine sources (e.g. deep sea hydrothermal

vent, deep sea tephra deposits, and sea subsurface sediments). Nevertheless, 20% of our sequences are significantly unique and haven't been previously identified in any similar ecosystems.

The resulting tree shows that all *hzo* sequences analyzed including our sequences are grouped into five different clusters (figure 12). Cluster A includes 27 Kebrit *hzo* sequences, these sequences show a close relation to an Anammox phylotype retrieved from deep-sea hydrothermal vent ecosystem. Cluster B contains 24 Atlantis II hzo sequences exhibiting close affiliation to a hydrazine oxidase sequence isolated from Candidatus Kuenenia Stuttgartiensis. Cluster C includes three Atlantis II hzo sequences, closely related to Anammox phylotypes, isolated from sea surface sediments, hydrothermal vent, ground water and coastal estuary sediment ecosystems. Cluster D comprises distinct phylotypes recovered from both Atlantis II and Kebrit interface layers with no close affiliation to any previously recognized hzo sequences, to be a putative unique *hzo* cluster. Finally, cluster E includes 51 and two hzo sequences retrieved from the interface regions of Atlantis II and Kebrit, respectively. Those sequences are grouped together with previously recognized Anammox phylotypes obtained from various ecosystems including KSU-1 planctomycetes enrichment cultures, Anammox bioreactors, ground water, river sediments, coastal estuary sediments and sea surface sediments.

#### **3.3.4 Sequencing Data Analysis Using Blastx**

After quality assessment analysis, a total of 81 sequences from Atlantis II deep interface library and 44 sequences from Kebrit deep upper interface library had good (30 Phred-Phrap) qualities. High quality sequences where aligned to entries in Genebank nr database using Blastx similarity search tool keeping E-value cut off score 10<sup>-5</sup>. Blastx results retrieved were summarized in the following tables (2 and 3).

The overall Blastx results of the tested sequences obtained from both libraries revealed that all the sequences were matching hydrazine oxidases from uncultured *Planctomycetes*. The Atlantis II Interface sequences showed similarity with hydrazine oxidases isolated from marine sources except one short read matched a hydrazine oxidase isolated from Cape Fear River sediment. Out of these 80 sequences, 52 reads matched two hydrazine oxidases retrieved from Jiaozhou Bay sediment and 26 reads

showed similarity to two hydrazine oxidases isolated from Montserrat deep-sea tephra deposits. Only two reads obtained from Atlantis II interface library are similar to hydrazine oxidases isolated from enriched cultures dominated by *Planctomycete* KSU-1. All the Kebrit sequences were matching hydrazine oxidases isolated from marine ecosystems. 34 sequences showed similarity to a hydrazine oxidase isolated from Montserrat deep-sea tephra deposit. Additionally, five sequences were similar to two hydrazine oxidases isolated from Guayamas deep-sea hydrothermal vent and other five reads were similar to two *hzo* sequences isolated from Jiaozhou Bay sediment.

#### **3.4** Comparative Analysis of Anammox Communities

To understand the diversity and the uniqueness of the Anammox communities in Atlantis and Kebrit interface layers, we compared *hzo* deduced amino acid sequences using Unifrac (comparing microbial communities using phylogenetic data) from different environments including Atlantis and Kebrit interfaces [78]. The environments included in the analysis are Atlantis interface layer, Kebrit upper interface layer, Jiaozhou bay sediment, deep-sea hydrothermal vent, deep-sea tephra deposits and upper Cape Fear River sediment. Table 5 discusses the environments examined, abbreviations used in the analysis and the number of *hzo* sequences analyzed from each environment.

The phylogenetic information (phylogenetic tree in Newick format) of all *hzo* sequences under study was processed using Unifrac and the phylogenetic relations were presented in figure 13. The phylogenetic tree depicts the presence of a putative unique cluster composed of 14 Kebrit and six Atlantis II Interface sequences. This cluster doesn't show close relation to any previously identified hydrazine oxidases. The rest of the examined *hzo* Kebrit and Atlantis II interface sequences showed close association to hydrazine oxidases isolated from Jiaozhou Bay sediment, deep-sea tephra deposit, hydrothermal vent sediment and Upper Cape Fear river sediment.

The similarities and differences between the compositions of Anammox communities inhabiting samples under study were analyzed using two different statistical tests, P-test and Unifrac significance test. The result of these statistical analyses indicated possible similarity between the structure of the Anammox community inhabiting Kebrit Upper Interface with Anammox communities present in Atlantis II Interface and Deep-Sea hydrothermal vent. Moreover, Atlantis II Anammox bacteria showed insignificant differences with the Anammox present in Deep-Sea Hydrothermal vent. The results were presented in tables 6 and 7. The Principal Component Analysis (PCoA) was employed to further separate the environments according to the nature of its Anammox communities and to detect the actual diversity as well as the uniqueness of our samples. The results generated, upon analyzing the samples using two principal coordinates P1 and P2, were illustrated in figure.14. To further support our differential analysis, lineage specific test was done to explore which sequences have the major contribution in distinguishing the investigated samples. The results obtained where presented in table.8.

### **CHAPTER 4: - DISCUSSION**

Marine Anammox bacteria are an underrepresented group in comparison to other phylogroups such as SAR11 (They represent approximately  $\leq 1\%$  of the total microbial population in most of the studied habitats and never exceeded 4%) [13], [79]. Based on this fact, studying marine Anammox bacteria may shed the light on the

potential diversity of the Red sea brine pools' rare biospheres.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to explore the composition and the phylogenetic diversity of Anammox bacterial communities in the interface layers of Red sea brine pools. This analysis was carried out using a functional biomarker (hydrazine oxidase) gene approach. This gene encodes for an enzyme that belongs to the octaheme cytochrome C hydroxylamine oxidoreductase protein family [30]. This critical enzyme converts hydrazine intermediate in the Anammox pathway to dinitrogen [50]. To date, hydrazine oxidases were only successfully detected and isolated from different Anammox bacteria e.g. Candidatus "*Scalindua*" and Candidatus "*Kuenenia*" [40]. Accordingly, Koltz and Stein suggested hydrazine oxidases could be used as a functional phylomarker for the Anammox group [57]. Different studies have used this approach to assess the diversity of Anammox communities in surface and subsurface marine sediments [62-64], estuary sediments [50], [51], oil reservoirs [54], river sediments [50], hydrothermal vents [43] and deep-sea tephra deposits [50].

The first glimpse on the results shows that Anammox bacteria are present in both Atlantis II and Kebrit interface layers. Higher levels of diversity and richness were observed in Anammox inhabiting Kebrit upper interface layer than those inhabiting Atlantis II interface layer. This might be due to the presence of oxygen in Atlantis II interface (43  $\mu$  moles /L equivalent to 0.5% air saturation) [46]. This exerts oxygen stress over the Anammox communities present suggesting the ability of these Anammox bacteria to tolerate mild aerobic conditions. Furthermore, these findings are supported through the work done by Strous *et al.* 1997 that proved Anammox bacteria could tolerate dissolved oxygen concentrations up to 0.5% [46].

Preliminary protein-based phylogeny analysis was conducted using the MG-RAST server cloud[72]. The analysis showed that 4743 reads representing 0.92% of the total bacterial reads of the Kebrit upper interface metagenomics library were assigned to *Planctomycetes*. Most of the reads belong to the cultured group specially the genera *Blastospirellula*, *Isosphaera*, *Pirellula* and others that we could not detect by our functional biomarker approach since they lack the unique hydrazine oxidase gene. Only 92 reads were assigned to uncultured *Planctomycetes* that may include our target; the Anammox group. On the other hand, 295 of the Atlantis II metagenomics library representing 0.26% of the total bacterial communities were assigned to *Planctomycetes*. Only one read matched with uncultured *Planctomycetes* group.

The observed discrepancies in the abundance of Anammox bacteria present in both samples could be a result of high sulfur contents and anaerobic conditions that characterize Kebrit upper interface ecosystem. These characteristics stimulate the sulfur reduction metabolic capabilities that are widespread among the cultured *Planctomycetes* group as reported by Elshahed *et al.* 2007 [80]. In addition, the high concentrations of hydrogen sulfide create anaerobic niches favored by the Anammox bacteria. Despite the significant existence of *Planctomycetes* phyla in Kebrit upper interface layer, the presence or absence of Anammox group in either Kebrit or Atlantis II interface layers couldn't be confidently substantiated out of the results obtained from protein based phylogeny analysis. Therefore, a functional biomarker gene approach was employed to gain insight on the Anammox bacterial communities inhabiting both layers.

DNA from both samples was amplified using hzoAB4F and hzoAB4R primers in a direct PCR approach targeting Anammox hydrazine oxidases. The amplified fragments were further processed to construct *hzo* clone libraries from the layers under investigation. A total of 81 clones from Atlantis II deep and 44 clones from Kebrit deep were sequenced. BlastX results showed that 100% of the sequences match hydrazine oxidases of uncultured *Planctomycetes*. In Atlantis II, 80 sequences were found to be similar to hydrazine oxidases isolated from marine sources. Only one short sequence (336bp), which matched a hydrazine oxidase from Upper Cape Fear river sediment, was found. Out of the 80 hydrazine oxidases in Atlantis, 47 sequences are binning to the accession number (ADD16762) isolated from Jiaozhou bay sediment
with identity scores ranging from (94-98%) except a single read shows identity score 87%. Also, five sequences show matches with the accession number (ADD16849) retrieved from Jiaozhou bay sediment with identity values > 98%. Moreover, 26 sequences are binning to the accession numbers (ADO21164) and (ADO21144) recovered from Montserrat deep-sea tephra deposits with identity results >97%. Out of the 81 sequences only two reads matched hydrazine oxidases from Anammox strain *Planctomycete* KSU-1 with identity values 90%. At this point, the structure of Anammox community in Atlantis interface couldn't be fully described due to the diverse nature of Anammox bacteria inhabiting the Jiaozhou bay sediment ecosystem [62].

Kebrit sequences show only similarity with hydrazine oxidases isolated from marine ecosystems with identity scores  $\geq 93\%$ . The best hits of more than 75% of the Kebrit match sequences isolated from Montserrat deep-sea Tephra deposits [50]. Five sequences match two different accession numbers retrieved from Guayamas deep-sea hydrothermal vent. Another five sequences match two different accession numbers obtained from Jiaozhou bay sediment ecosystem [50], [62]. Previous studies showed that sequences analyzed from both Montserrat deep-sea tephra deposits and Guayamas deep-sea hydrothermal vents showed intimate relations to *hzo* isolated from *Scalindua* enrichment cultures. Therefore, it is speculated that the majority of Anammox species inhabiting Kebrit upper interface layer are most probably dominated "*Scalindua sp.*"

To assess the diversity of Anammox phylotypes that exist in Atlantis II interface layer and Kebrit upper interface layer, alpha diversity analyses were performed using mothur pipeline. Rarefaction curves were plotted for both samples and indicated good coverage of Anammox phylotypes by attaining the plateau phase in both curves. Reaching this phase means that even if more sequences were added, the number of the phylotypes will remain the same. Additionally, three  $\alpha$ -diversity indices were performed; Chao1, Simpson and Shannon. Chao1 is a non-parametric index estimating the approximate number of phylotypes that might be present in the examined samples. For Atlantis II, Chao1 value is 8.3 approximately equal to the actual number of phylotypes that was retrieved from the sample. For Kebrit, the Chao1 value is 12 suggesting that only three phylotypes are missing from our Kebrit dataset. Both Simpson and Shannon indices reflect the diversity and the richness of the tested sample. Shannon values range between 1 designating low diversity to 5 designating high diversity while Simpson values range between 0 representing high diversity to 1 representing low diversity. The overall alpha diversity indices results imply that Anammox bacteria in Kebrit upper interface ecosystem are richer and more diverse than the one inhabiting the Atlantis II interface.

26

To estimate the diversity and the evolutionary distances among Anammox communities inhabiting both analyzed samples, beta diversity analyses were done using  $\int$ -LIBSHUFF and shared OTUs test implemented in mothur software. The results showed that Anammox bacteria in Kebrit are significantly different than Atlantis II Anammox bacteria (dCXY= 0.0627). It also indicated that there are no shared OTUs between both examined Anammox groups and the evolutionary distances between the tested phylotypes are > 0.03 (more than 3 amino acids per 100). It could also be inferred that both communities nearly share the same Anammox genera as concluded from the evolutionary distances (< 0.05).

It has been reported in previous studies that the Anammox bacteria *Candidatus Scalindua* species mainly dominate marine water columns, surface and subsurface sediments of the sea. In addition to the presence of *Candidatus "Scalindua* sp.", other Anammox bacteria were detected in hydrothermal vents located in the Mid-Atlantic ridge area including *Candidatus "Kuenenia* sp.", *Candidatus "Brocadia* sp." and *Candidatus "Jettenia* sp." It was also concluded that the lower abundance of *Scalindua* species in ecosystems with thermal activities is because *Scalindua* sp. adapts better to ecosystems with lower temperatures [43].

Based on these observations, our interpretations of the phylogenetic analysis data revealed the presence of five different Anammox bacteria clusters in both Atlantis and Kebrit interfaces (figure 12). Cluster A comprises 28 sequences. Of which, more than 60% were recovered from Kebrit. These sequences are phylogenetically related to a single phylotype retrieved from a deep-sea hydrothermal vent located in Guayamas basin. Considering that all the *hzo* sequences isolated from Guayamas basin hydrothermal vents belong to *Candidatus "Scalindua*." Therefore, cluster A sequences are more or less related to *Scalindua* species [50]. This is further supported by the fact that *Scalindua* dominate marine habitats with low to moderate temperatures, similar to Kebrit upper interface conditions [40]. The second cluster comprised 24 sequences

representing 30% of Anammox bacteria present in Atlantis II are affiliated to Candidatus "Kuenenia Sttutgartiensis." This finding is in agreement with the results found in Mid- Atlantic deep-sea hydrothermal vent [43], as Atlantis II brine pool is characterized by its hydrothermal activity (temperature  $\approx 70^{\circ}$ C). Cluster C represents three Atlantis II hzo sequences clustered with phylotypes isolated from surface sediments of equatorial pacific, Jiaozhou bay sediment, subsurface sea sediments, Montserrat deep-sea tephra deposits and Guayamas basin deep-sea hydrothermal vents. hzo sequences recovered from surface sediment of equatorial Pacific [63], deepsea hydrothermal vents and deep-sea tephra deposits were affiliated to Candidatus "Scalindua species" as showed by both 16srRNA and hzo based functional analyses [50]. It can be concluded that *hzo* sequences in cluster C most probably belong to Candidatus "Scalindua species". Interestingly, cluster D - being composed of 14 Kebrit hzo sequences and six Atlantis II hzo sequences - didn't show any connection to a previously identified hzo sequences. This settles it as a unique hzo cluster and hypothesizes that it is a possible signature for Anammox bacteria in brine pools' interface layer ecosystems. It can be also concluded that brine pool ecosystems may exhibit evolutionary forces that might influence the unique diversity of Anammox species. Finally, cluster E seems to be more ubiquitous than formerly mentioned hzo clusters. It groups 48 hzo sequences isolated from Atlantis II interface layer and two hzo sequences from Kebrit upper interface layer with large subset of hydrazine oxidases isolated from different sources including surface sediments from black river, Jiaozhou bay sediment, coastal estuary sediments, Upper Cape Fear river estuary sediment, North Carolina ground water, high temperature oil reservoirs and even from Anammox bioreactors. Different Anammox genera including Scalindua, Jettenia, Brocadia and Kuenenia have been identified in ecosystems that grouped in cluster E. This is due to either the nature of the ecosystems themselves that support the presence of these species or the anthropogenic interventions reported at some of these habitats [54], [62]. This coincides with the limited number of *hzo* sequences available in the Genebank database. For instance, there are only two hydrazine oxidase sequences available from Scalindua enrichment cultures. Thus, the exact Anammox genus representing this cluster couldn't be accurately identified [63], [64].

To estimate the diversity levels and the degree of uniqueness of the targeted samples, a comparative study between our samples and other ecosystems chosen based on the isolation sources of the blastx best hits results that retrieved from Genebank nr database was conducted. This study was executed using Unifrac software. Unifrac phylogenetic tree indicates the presence of two *hzo* clades - belonging to Kebrit and Atlantis II - that don't match any other previously isolated hzo sequences. This coincides with the results presented by the previously discussed aLRT phylogenetic tree and the lineage specific test as well. Furthermore, the results obtained from another two statistical analysis tests, P-test and Unifrac significance test, indicate that Anammox community inhabiting Kebrit upper interface layer is suggestively close in its structure to those inhabiting both Guayamas basin deep-sea hydrothermal vent and Atlantis II interface ecosystems than other Anammox communities tested. This observation is in agreement with the phylogenetic analysis done, as more than 60% of Kebrit hzo sequences matched an Anammox phylotype isolated from Guayamas deepsea hydrothermal vent and the rest cluster at different positions on the aLRT tree with Atlantis *hzo* sequences. Whereas, Anammox community in Atlantis II interface layer is not significantly different than Guayamas basin deep-sea hydrothermal vent, Kebrit upper interface layer and, at a lower extent, not different than Montserrat deep-sea tephra deposits. These relations are depicted in a Unifrac cluster model of the examined ecosystems and supported by Jacknife confidence values (supplementary figure 1). Finally, the PCoA analysis drew a conclusion that Anammox communities inhabiting either Atlantis II interface layer or Kebrit upper interface layer exhibit a unique geographical distribution pattern. This supports the assumption that the multiple extremophilic nature of these ecosystems might influence the evolution of various Anammox related species differently than other marine habitats.

It is also worth noting that there are three pitfalls that should be highlighted in our study. First, the results of this functional approach should be correlated to the 16srRNA analyses results of both tested samples. This will broaden our perception of the level of the Anammox species diversity present in the examined samples and improve our interpretations of Anammox profiles detected by hydrazine oxidase based approach. In addition, the shortage in the ammonium and nitrogen levels data available on Atlantis II and Kebrit interfaces limited our scope in linking the Anammox diversity based on the fluctuations of nitrogen and ammonia levels. Also, the limited number of hydrazine oxidase sequences available from Anammox enrichment cultures significantly restricts our analyses. This is owing to the presence of only two hydrazine oxidase sequences from *Candidatus "Scalindua* sp.", one from "*Brocadia* sp.", one from "*Jettenia* sp.", two from *Candidatus "Kuenenia* sp." and one isolated from *Candidatus "Anamnoxoglobus*" [64].

In conclusion, the study of the diversity profiles of Anammox communities inhabiting Atlantis II and Kebrit brine pools' interface layers shed the light on the presence of some unique Anammox phylotypes and phylogenetic patterns. These newly discovered phylotypes and phylogenetic patterns differ considerably from Anammox profiles previously described in other marine ecosystems.

### **R**EFERENCES

- M. Hartmann, J. Scholten, P. Stoffers, and F. Wehner, "Hydrographic structure of brine-filled deeps in the Red Sea—new results from the Shaban, Kebrit, Atlantis II, and Discovery Deep," *Marine geology*, vol. 144, no. 4, pp. 311–330, 1998.
- [2] P.Y. Qian, Y. Wang, O. O. Lee, S. C. K. Lau, J. Yang, F. F. Lafi, A. Al-Suwailem, and T. Y. Wong, "Vertical stratification of microbial communities in the Red Sea revealed by 16S rDNA pyrosequencing," *ISME J*, pp. 1–12, Jul. 2010.
- [3] M. Schmidt, "High-resolution methane profiles across anoxic brine-seawater boundaries in the Atlantis-II, Discovery, and Kebrit Deeps (Red Sea)," *Chemical Geology*, vol. 200, no. 3, pp. 359–375, Oct. 2003.
- [4] W. Eder, W. Ludwig, and R. Huber, "Novel 16S rRNA gene sequences retrieved from highly saline brine sediments of Kebrit Deep, Red Sea," *Arch. Microbiol.*, vol. 172, no. 4, pp. 213–218, 1999.
- [5] A. Antunes, D. K. Ngugi, and U. Stingl, "Microbiology of the Red Sea (and other) deep-sea anoxic brine lakes," *Environmental Microbiology Reports*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 416–433, May 2011.
- [6] A. R. Miller, *Hot brines and recent iron deposits in deeps of the Red Sea* (*WHOI*). Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, 1965.
- [7] W. Eder, L. L. Jahnke, M. Schmidt, and R. Huber, "Microbial Diversity of the Brine-Seawater Interface of the Kebrit Deep, Red Sea, Studied via 16S rRNA Gene Sequences and Cultivation Methods," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 67, no. 7, pp. 3077–3085, Jul. 2001.
- [8] P. Anschutz, G. Blanc, C. Monnin, and J. Boulègue, "Geochemical dynamics of the Atlantis II Deep (Red Sea): II. Composition of metalliferous sediment pore waters," *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, vol. 64, no. 23, pp. 3995– 4006, 2000.
- [9] H. G. Trüper, J. J. Kelleher, and H. W. Jannasch, "Isolation and characterization of sulfate-reducing bacteria from various marine environments.," *Arch Mikrobiol*, vol. 65, no. 3, pp. 208–217, 1969.
- [10] G. Fiala, C. R. Woese, T. A. Langworthy, and K. O. Stetter, "Flexistipes

sinusarabici, a novel genus and species of eubacteria occurring in the Atlantis II Deep brines of the Red Sea," *Arch. Microbiol.*, vol. 154, no. 2, pp. 120–126, 1990.

- Y. Wang, J. Yang, O. O. Lee, S. Dash, S. C. K. Lau, A. Al-Suwailem, T. Y. H. Wong, A. Danchin, and P.-Y. Qian, "Hydrothermally generated aromatic compounds are consumed by bacteria colonizing in Atlantis II Deep of the Red Sea.," *ISME J*, vol. 5, no. 10, pp. 1652–1659, Oct. 2011.
- [12] H. Bothe, *Biology of the Nitrogen Cycle*. Elsevier Science & Technology, 2007, p. 427.
- [13] J. P. Zehr and R. M. Kudela, "Nitrogen Cycle of the Open Ocean: From Genes to Ecosystems," Annu. Rev. Marine. Sci., vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 197–225, Jan. 2011.
- [14] D. G. Capone and A. Knapp, "The marine nitrogen cycle," *MICROBE-AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR MICROBIOLOGY*, vol. 3, no. 4, p. 186, 2008.
- [15] S. Naqvi, M. Voss, and J. Montoya, "Recent advances in the biogeochemistry of nitrogen in the ocean," *Biogeosciences*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 1033–1041, 2008.
- [16] J. P. Zehr, B. D. Jenkins, S. M. Short, and G. F. Steward, "Nitrogenase gene diversity and microbial community structure: a cross-system comparison.," *Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 5, no. 7, pp. 539–554, Jul. 2003.
- [17] J. P. Zehr, J. B. Waterbury, P. J. Turner, J. P. Montoya, E. Omoregie, G. F. Steward, A. Hansen, and D. M. Karl, "Unicellular cyanobacteria fix N2 in the subtropical North Pacific Ocean.," *Nature*, vol. 412, no. 6847, pp. 635–638, Aug. 2001.
- [18] I. Schmidt, O. Sliekers, M. Schmid, I. Cirpus, M. Strous, E. Bock, J. G. Kuenen, and M. S. M. Jetten, "Aerobic and anaerobic ammonia oxidizing bacteria--competitors or natural partners?," *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 175–181, Mar. 2002.
- [19] M. Könneke, A. E. Bernhard, J. R. de la Torre, C. B. Walker, J. B. Waterbury, and D. A. Stahl, "Isolation of an autotrophic ammonia-oxidizing marine archaeon," *Nature*, vol. 437, no. 7058, pp. 543–546, Sep. 2005.
- W. Martens-Habbena, P. M. Berube, H. Urakawa, J. R. de la Torre, and D. A.
   Stahl, "Ammonia oxidation kinetics determine niche separation of nitrifying Archaea and Bacteria.," *Nature*, vol. 461, no. 7266, pp. 976–979, Oct. 2009.

- [21] M. Hayatsu and K. Tago, "Various players in the nitrogen cycle: diversity and functions of the microorganisms involved in nitrification and denitrification," *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 2008.
- [22] C. A. Francis, J. M. Beman, and M. M. M. Kuypers, "New processes and players in the nitrogen cycle: the microbial ecology of anaerobic and archaeal ammonia oxidation.," *ISME J*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 19–27, May 2007.
- [23] A. A. van de Graaf, A. Mulder, P. de Bruijn, M. S. Jetten, L. A. Robertson, and J. G. Kuenen, "Anaerobic oxidation of ammonium is a biologically mediated process.," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 61, no. 4, pp. 1246–1251, Apr. 1995.
- [24] G. A. Kowalchuk and J. R. Stephen, "Ammonia-oxidizing bacteria: a model for molecular microbial ecology.," *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.*, vol. 55, pp. 485– 529, 2001.
- [25] J. A. Brandes, A. H. Devol, and C. Deutsch, "New developments in the marine nitrogen cycle.," *Chem. Rev.*, vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 577–589, Feb. 2007.
- [26] W. G. Zumft, "Cell biology and molecular basis of denitrification.," *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.*, vol. 61, no. 4, pp. 533–616, Dec. 1997.
- [27] M. S. Jetten, M. Wagner, J. Fuerst, M. van Loosdrecht, G. Kuenen, and M. Strous, "Microbiology and application of the anaerobic ammonium oxidation ('Anammox') process.," *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 283–288, Jun. 2001.
- [28] H. A. Boumann, E. C. Hopmans, I. van de Leemput, H. J. M. Op den Camp, J. van de Vossenberg, M. Strous, M. S. M. Jetten, J. S. Sinninghe DamstÃ, and S. Schouten, "Ladderane phospholipids in Anammox bacteria comprise phosphocholine and phosphoethanolamine headgroups," *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, vol. 258, no. 2, pp. 297–304, May 2006.
- [29] M. Strous, E. Pelletier, S. Mangenot, T. Rattei, A. Lehner, M. W. Taylor, M. Horn, H. Daims, D. Bartol-Mavel, P. Wincker, V. Barbe, N. Fonknechten, D. Vallenet, B. Segurens, C. Schenowitz-Truong, C. Médigue, A. Collingro, B. Snel, B. E. Dutilh, H. J. M. Op den Camp, C. van der Drift, I. Cirpus, K. T. van de Pas-Schoonen, H. R. Harhangi, L. van Niftrik, M. Schmid, J. Keltjens, J. van de Vossenberg, B. Kartal, H. Meier, D. Frishman, M. A. Huynen, H.-W. Mewes, J. Weissenbach, M. S. M. Jetten, M. Wagner, and D. Le Paslier,

"Deciphering the evolution and metabolism of an Anammox bacterium from a community genome," *Nature*, vol. 440, no. 7085, pp. 790–794, Apr. 2006.

- [30] M. Shimamura, T. Nishiyama, H. Shigetomo, T. Toyomoto, Y. Kawahara, K. Furukawa, and T. Fujii, "Isolation of a Multiheme Protein with Features of a Hydrazine-Oxidizing Enzyme from an Anaerobic Ammonium-Oxidizing Enrichment Culture," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 73, no. 4, pp. 1065–1072, Feb. 2007.
- [31] "Production of N2 through Anaerobic Ammonium Oxidation Coupled to Nitrate Reduction in Marine Sediments," pp. 1–7, Feb. 2002.
- [32] M. M. M. Kuypers, A. O. Sliekers, G. Lavik, M. Schmid, B. B. Jørgensen, J. G. Kuenen, J. S. Sinninghe Damsté, M. Strous, and M. S. M. Jetten, "Anaerobic ammonium oxidation by Anammox bacteria in the Black Sea.," *Nature*, vol. 422, no. 6932, pp. 608–611, Apr. 2003.
- [33] J. Kirkpatrick, B. Oakley, C. Fuchsman, S. Srinivasan, J. T. Staley, and J. W. Murray, "Diversity and distribution of Planctomycetes and related bacteria in the suboxic zone of the Black Sea.," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 72, no. 4, pp. 3079–3083, Apr. 2006.
- [34] J. A. Fuerst and E. Sagulenko, "Beyond the bacterium: planctomycetes challenge our concepts of microbial structure and function," *Nat Rev Micro*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 403–413, Jun. 2011.
- [35] A. Mulder, A. Graaf, and L. Robertson, "Anaerobic ammonium oxidation discovered in a denitrifying fluidized bed reactor," *FEMS Microbiology* ..., 1995.
- [36] M. S. M. Jetten and J. G. Kuenen, "Autotrophic growth of anaerobic ammonium-oxidizing micro-organisms in a fluidized bed reactor," *Microbiology*, vol. 142, pp. 2187–2196, 1996.
- [37] J. P. Zehr, "New twist on nitrogen cycling in oceanic oxygen minimum zones.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, vol. 106, no. 12, pp. 4575–4576, Mar. 2009.
- [38] A. A. van de Graaf, P. de Bruijn, L. A. Robertson, M. S. M. Jetten, and J. G. Kuenen, "Metabolic pathway of anaerobic ammonium oxidation on the basis of 15N studies in a fluidized bed reactor," *Microbiology*, vol. 143, no. 7, pp. 2415–2421, Jul. 1997.

- [39] L. A. Niftrik, J. A. Fuerst, J. S. S. DamstÃ, J. G. Kuenen, M. S. M. Jetten, and M. Strous, "The Anammoxosome: an intracytoplasmic compartment in Anammox bacteria," *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, vol. 233, no. 1, pp. 7–13, Apr. 2004.
- [40] J. G. Kuenen, "Anammox bacteria: from discovery to application," Nat Rev Micro, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 320–326, 2008.
- [41] S. Rysgaard, R. Glud, M. Sejr, and M. Blicher, "Denitrification activity and oxygen dynamics in Arctic sea ice," *Polar Biology*, 2008.
- [42] S. Rysgaard, R. Glud, and N. Risgaard-Petersen, "Denitrification and Anammox activity in Arctic marine sediments," *Limnology and* ..., 2004.
- [43] N. Byrne, M. Strous, V. Crépeau, B. Kartal, J.-L. Birrien, M. Schmid, F. Lesongeur, S. Schouten, A. Jaeschke, M. Jetten, D. Prieur, and A. Godfroy, "Presence and activity of anaerobic ammonium-oxidizing bacteria at deep-sea hydrothermal vents," *ISME J*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 117–123, Jul. 2008.
- [44] A. Jaeschke, H. J. M. Op den Camp, H. Harhangi, A. Klimiuk, E. C. Hopmans, M. S. M. Jetten, S. Schouten, and J. S. Sinninghe Damsté, "16S rRNA gene and lipid biomarker evidence for anaerobic ammonium-oxidizing bacteria (Anammox) in California and Nevada hot springs.," *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, vol. 67, no. 3, pp. 343–350, Mar. 2009.
- [45] M. Strous, J. G. Kuenen, and M. S. Jetten, "Key physiology of anaerobic ammonium oxidation.," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 65, no. 7, pp. 3248–3250, Jul. 1999.
- [46] M. Strous, E. Van Gerven, J. G. Kuenen, and M. Jetten, "Effects of aerobic and microaerobic conditions on anaerobic ammonium-oxidizing (Anammox) sludge.," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 2446– 2448, Jun. 1997.
- [47] M. Lindsay, R. Webb, M. Strous, and M. Jetten, "Cell compartmentalisation in planctomycetes: novel types of structural organisation for the bacterial cell," *Archives of ...*, 2001.
- [48] C. Brochier and H. Philippe, "Phylogeny: a non-hyperthermophilic ancestor for bacteria.," *Nature*, vol. 417, no. 6886, p. 244, May 2002.
- [49] M. Wagner and M. Horn, "The Planctomycetes, Verrucomicrobia, Chlamydiae and sister phyla comprise a superphylum with biotechnological

and medical relevance," *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 241–249, Jun. 2006.

- [50] M. D. Hirsch, Z. T. Long, and B. Song, "Anammox Bacterial Diversity in Various Aquatic Ecosystems Based on the Detection of Hydrazine Oxidase Genes (hzoA/hzoB)," *Microb Ecol*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 264–276, Sep. 2010.
- [51] M. Li, H. Cao, Y.-G. Hong, and J.-D. Gu, "Seasonal Dynamics of Anammox Bacteria in Estuarial Sediment of the Mai Po Nature Reserve Revealed by Analyzing the 16S rRNA and Hydrazine Oxidoreductase (hzo) Genes," *Microbes Environ.*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 15–22, 2011.
- [52] C. J. Schubert, E. Durisch-Kaiser, B. Wehrli, B. Thamdrup, P. Lam, and M. M. M. Kuypers, "Anaerobic ammonium oxidation in a tropical freshwater system (Lake Tanganyika)," pp. 1–7, Aug. 2006.
- P. Lam, M. M. Jensen, G. Lavik, D. F. McGinnis, B. Müller, C. J. Schubert,
  R. Amann, B. Thamdrup, and M. M. M. Kuypers, "Linking crenarchaeal and bacterial nitrification to Anammox in the Black Sea.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A., vol. 104, no. 17, pp. 7104–7109, Apr. 2007.
- [54] H. Li, S. Chen, B.-Z. Mu, and J.-D. Gu, "Molecular Detection of Anaerobic Ammonium-Oxidizing (Anammox) Bacteria in High-Temperature Petroleum Reservoirs," *Microb Ecol*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 771–783, Aug. 2010.
- [55] M. Li and J.-D. Gu, "Advances in methods for detection of anaerobic ammonium oxidizing (Anammox) bacteria," *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, vol. 90, no. 4, pp. 1241–1252, Apr. 2011.
- [56] M. C. Schmid, B. Maas, A. Dapena, K. van de Pas-Schoonen, J. van de Vossenberg, B. Kartal, L. van Niftrik, I. Schmidt, I. Cirpus, and J. G. Kuenen, "Biomarkers for in situ detection of anaerobic ammonium-oxidizing (Anammox) bacteria," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 71, no. 4, pp. 1677–1684, 2005.
- [57] M. G. Klotz and L. Y. Stein, "Nitrifier genomics and evolution of the nitrogen cycle," *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, vol. 278, no. 2, pp. 146–156, Jan. 2008.
- [58] M. Li, T. Ford, X. Li, and J.-D. Gu, "Cytochrome cd1-Containing Nitrite Reductase Encoding Gene nirSas a New Functional Biomarker for Detection of Anaerobic Ammonium Oxidizing (Anammox) Bacteria," *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 3547–3553, Apr. 2011.

- [59] H. R. Harhangi, M. Le Roy, T. van Alen, B. L. Hu, J. Groen, B. Kartal, S. G. Tringe, Z. X. Quan, M. S. M. Jetten, and H. J. M. Op den Camp, "Hydrazine Synthase, a Unique Phylomarker with Which To Study the Presence and Biodiversity of Anammox Bacteria," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 78, no. 3, pp. 752–758, Jan. 2012.
- [60] Z.-X. Quan, S.-K. Rhee, J.-E. Zuo, Y. Yang, J.-W. Bae, J. R. Park, S.-T. Lee, and Y.-H. Park, "Diversity of ammonium-oxidizing bacteria in a granular sludge anaerobic ammonium-oxidizing (Anammox) reactor," *Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 10, no. 11, pp. 3130–3139, Nov. 2008.
- [61] X.-R. Li, B. Du, H.-X. Fu, R.-F. Wang, J.-H. Shi, Y. Wang, M. S. M. Jetten, and Z.-X. Quan, "The bacterial diversity in an anaerobic ammonium-oxidizing (Anammox) reactor community.," *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 278–289, Jul. 2009.
- [62] H. Dang, R. Chen, L. Wang, L. Guo, P. Chen, Z. Tang, F. Tian, S. Li, and M.
   G. Klotz, "Environmental Factors Shape Sediment Anammox Bacterial Communities in Hypernutrified Jiaozhou Bay, China," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 76, no. 21, pp. 7036–7047, Oct. 2010.
- [63] Y.-G. Hong, B. Yin, and T.-L. Zheng, "Diversity and abundance of Anammox bacterial community in the deep-ocean surface sediment from equatorial Pacific," *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*, vol. 89, no. 4, pp. 1233–1241, Oct. 2010.
- [64] Y.-G. Hong, M. Li, H. Cao, and J.-D. Gu, "Residence of Habitat-Specific Anammox Bacteria in the Deep-Sea Subsurface Sediments of the South China Sea: Analyses of Marker Gene Abundance with Physical Chemical Parameters," *Microb Ecol*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 36–47, Apr. 2011.
- [65] A. Pitcher, L. Villanueva, E. C. Hopmans, S. Schouten, G.-J. Reichart, and J. S. Sinninghe Damsté, "Niche segregation of ammonia-oxidizing archaea and Anammox bacteria in the Arabian Sea oxygen minimum zone.," *ISME J*, vol. 5, no. 12, pp. 1896–1904, Dec. 2011.
- [66] J. Kennedy, B. Flemer, S. A. Jackson, D. P. H. Lejon, J. P. Morrissey, F. O'Gara, and A. D. W. Dobson, "Marine Metagenomics: New Tools for the Study and Exploitation of Marine Microbial Metabolism," *Marine Drugs*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 608–628, Mar. 2010.
- [67] E. F. DeLong, "The microbial ocean from genomes to biomes," *Nature*, vol.

459, no. 7244, pp. 200–206, May 2009.

- [68] J. Handelsman, M. R. Rondon, S. F. Brady, J. Clardy, and R. M. Goodman, "Molecular biological access to the chemistry of unknown soil microbes: a new frontier for natural products.," *Chem. Biol.*, vol. 5, no. 10, pp. R245–9, Oct. 1998.
- [69] L. J. Kerkhof and R. M. Goodman, "Ocean microbial metagenomics," *Deep-Sea Research Part II*, vol. 56, no. 19, pp. 1824–1829, Aug. 2009.
- [70] C. Simon and R. Daniel, "Metagenomic Analyses: Past and Future Trends," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 77, no. 4, pp. 1153–1161, Feb. 2011.
- [71] D. B. Rusch, A. L. Halpern, G. Sutton, K. B. Heidelberg, S. Williamson, S. Yooseph, D. Wu, J. A. Eisen, J. M. Hoffman, K. Remington, K. Beeson, B. Tran, H. Smith, H. Baden-Tillson, C. Stewart, J. Thorpe, J. Freeman, C. Andrews-Pfannkoch, J. E. Venter, K. Li, S. Kravitz, J. F. Heidelberg, T. Utterback, Y.-H. Rogers, L. I. Falcón, V. Souza, G. Bonilla-Rosso, L. E. Eguiarte, D. M. Karl, S. Sathyendranath, T. Platt, E. Bermingham, V. Gallardo, G. Tamayo-Castillo, M. R. Ferrari, R. L. Strausberg, K. Nealson, R. Friedman, M. Frazier, and J. C. Venter, "The Sorcerer II Global Ocean Sampling Expedition: Northwest Atlantic through Eastern Tropical Pacific," *Plos Biol*, vol. 5, no. 3, p. e77, 2007.
- [72] F. Meyer, D. Paarmann, M. D'Souza, R. Olson, E. M. Glass, M. Kubal, T. Paczian, A. Rodriguez, R. Stevens, A. Wilke, J. Wilkening, and R. A. Edwards, "The metagenomics RAST server a public resource for the automatic phylogenetic and functional analysis of metagenomes.," *BMC Bioinformatics*, vol. 9, p. 386, 2008.
- [73] J. D. Thompson, D. G. Higgins, and T. J. Gibson, "CLUSTAL W: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position-specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice.," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 22, no. 22, pp. 4673–4680, Nov. 1994.
- [74] J. Feisenstein, *PHYLIP: Phylogeny Inference Package version 3.2 manual*. University of Washington, 1989.
- [75] P. D. Schloss, S. L. Westcott, T. Ryabin, J. R. Hall, M. Hartmann, E. B. Hollister, R. A. Lesniewski, B. B. Oakley, D. H. Parks, C. J. Robinson, J. W.

Sahl, B. Stres, G. G. Thallinger, D. J. Van Horn, and C. F. Weber, "Introducing mothur: Open-Source, Platform-Independent, Community-Supported Software for Describing and Comparing Microbial Communities," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 75, no. 23, pp. 7537–7541, Nov. 2009.

- [76] S. Guindon, J.-F. Dufayard, V. Lefort, M. Anisimova, W. Hordijk, and O. Gascuel, "New algorithms and methods to estimate maximum-likelihood phylogenies: assessing the performance of PhyML 3.0.," *Syst. Biol.*, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 307–321, May 2010.
- [77] I. Letunic and P. Bork, "Interactive Tree Of Life v2: online annotation and display of phylogenetic trees made easy.," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 39, no. Web Server issue, pp. W475–8, Jul. 2011.
- [78] C. Lozupone, M. Hamady, and R. Knight, "UniFrac--an online tool for comparing microbial community diversity in a phylogenetic context.," *BMC Bioinformatics*, vol. 7, p. 371, 2006.
- [79] M. L. Sogin, H. G. Morrison, J. A. Huber, D. M. Welch, S. M. Huse, P. R. Neal, J. M. Arrieta, and G. J. Herndl, "Microbial diversity in the deep sea and the underexplored 'rare biosphere'," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, vol. 103, no. 32, p. 12115, 2006.
- [80] M. S. Elshahed, N. H. Youssef, Q. Luo, F. Z. Najar, B. A. Roe, T. M. Sisk, S. I. Buhring, K. U. Hinrichs, and L. R. Krumholz, "Phylogenetic and Metabolic Diversity of Planctomycetes from Anaerobic, Sulfide- and Sulfur-Rich Zodletone Spring, Oklahoma," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 73, no. 15, pp. 4707–4716, Jul. 2007.

## **FIGURES**



Figure 1 The Location of Red Sea Brine Pools

This figure modified from Schmidt *et al.*, 2003; demonstrating the location of two Red sea brine pools, Kebrit Deep and Atlantis II Deep [3].



## **Atlantis II Deep**



Figure 2 Physicochemical Characteristics of Atlantis II Deep and Kebrit Deep

These graphs show the variations in the oxygen and temperature across different layers of Atlantis II Deep and Kebrit Deep Brine Pools. These graphs were adapted from Schmidt *et al.* 2003 [3]





This illustration depicts the Anammox pathway machinery. Hydrazine hydrolase (HH) produces hydrazine from ammonia and nitric oxide (the product of nitrite reduction via nitrite reductase (NR)). Hydrazine oxidase (HZO) generates di-nitrogen through hydrazine oxidation reaction. This figure is modified from (Strous *et al.* 2006) [29].



Figure 4 The Major Pathways in the Marine Nitrogen Biogeochemical Cycle

This figure depicts the four major pathways comprising the marine nitrogen biogeochemical cycle. Under oxic conditions nitrogen gas is fixed to particulate organic nitrogen compounds (PON) through nitrogen fixation and ammonia is nitrified in two sequential steps: a) ammonia is oxidized to nitrite through the action of nitrate oxidase possessed by *Nitrosomonas Sp.* b) nitrite is oxidized to nitrate through the action of nitrate monooxygenase possessed by *Nitrobacter Sp.* Accordingly, nitrate seeps from oxic regions to suboxic ones and is reduced to nitrite to be modified either to ammonia by DNRA pathway or to N<sub>2</sub> by denitrification, which is released back to the atmosphere. Ammonia is available in the suboxic niches either through mineralization of organic compounds or DNRA pathway is further processed via Anammox bacteria to generate N<sub>2</sub> gas. This figure is adapted from Francis *et al.* 2007[22].





The figure depicts the organization of the compartmentalized Anammox cell, modified from Kuenen 2008 [40].



Figure 6 Phylogenetic Representation of the Phylum Planctomycetes

Schematic representation of Planctomycetes phylogenetic tree based on 16srRNA-deduced amino acids depicts the phylogenetic relations between Planctomycetes related species. This tree modified from Kuenen *et al.* 2006 [40]



46

Figure 7 The Overall Distribution of Both Planctomycetes Cultured and Uncultured Species as Identified by MG-RAST Server Cloud

The graph represents the total reads assigned to both cultured and uncultured *planctomycetes* in Atlantis II (blue) and Kebrit upper (red) interface libraries according to MG-RAST Cloud sequence similarity search against GenBank database with a cutoff E-value of 1<sup>-5</sup>.







The figure shows PCR amplification results generated using hydrazine oxidase specific primers set hzoAB4F, and hzoAB4R. The products sizes were measured using 1kb ladder (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA). Amplifications were observed in Atlantis II deep and Kebrit deep samples, all the amplicons had a length (~ 600bp) as expected.



Figure 9 Rarefaction Curve Plotted to Indicate the Coverage Level of Anammox Phylotypes Inhabiting Atlantis II Interface Layer

This graph is plotted to explain the relation between the eight Anammox phylotypes identified from 81 hydrazine oxidase sequences recovered from Atlantis II deep interface library. It also demonstrates a good coverage of Anammox phylotypes present in the layer, which is indicated by the plateau phase reached by the curve.



Number of clones

Figure 10 Rarefaction Curve Plotted to Indicate the Coverage Level of Anammox Phylotype Inhabting Kebrit Upper Interface Layer

This graph is plotted to depict the relation between the nine Anammox phylotypes identified based on 44 hydrazine oxidase sequences recovered from Kebrit deep upper interface library. It also demonstrates a good coverage of Anammox phylotypes present in the layer, which is indicated by the plateau phase reached by the curve.



Figure 11 The Evolutionary Distance Between Hzo Sequences Recovered from the Samples Under Study

This graph illustrates the evolutionary distance between the Anammox phylotypes present in the tested samples based on LIBSHUFF analysis of hzo sequences. The relation was displayed by plotting the evolutionary distance (D) on the x-axis and the percentage of hzo sequences covered (% coverage) on the y-axis.



Figure 12 Approximate Likelihood Phylogenetic Tree Based on hzo Sequences Deduced Amino Acids Alignments.

A maximum likelihood tree based on hzo deduced amino acids sequences recovered from the examined layers. Those sequences were evolutionary compared to other *hzo*-based Anammox OTUs obtained from different marine and non-marine ecosystems. The color codes are (purple= Anammox bioreactors, green= ground water, yellow= estuary coastal sediment ecosystem, orange= sea surface sediment, off-white= Anammox enrichment cultures, gray= wall biomat sample, fuchsia= river ecosystem, light green= hydrothermal vents, brown= sea subsurface sediment, blue= Kebrit upper interface layer, white= high temperature oil reservoirs and red= Atlantis interface layer). The tree

confidence values were calculated using approximate Likelihood-Ratio Test (aLRT) and only branches with bootstrap supporting values > 0.5 were presented.

#### Scale 1 dash ~ 0.0290 branch length units

+>KeDritEil(3) ++>KebritC04 (1) ++> KebritB05(1) +> ATE08(1) +> ATE08(1)
<pre>1</pre>
<pre>+++++&gt; JBS15 JBS(2)      ++&gt; ATD12 (7)      ++&gt; ATD12 (7)      ++&gt; ATD10 (4)      ++&gt; ATD09 (15)      ++&gt; ATD00 (2)       ++&gt; ATD00 (2)       ++&gt; ATB06 (2)       ++&gt; ATB06 (2)       ++&gt; ATB06 (2)       ++&gt; ATD07 (1)   +&gt; KebritF05 (2)     ++&gt; ATC07 (1)   ++++++++++++++&gt;&gt; JBS20 JBS(2)                       +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                       +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                    +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                    +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                    +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                    +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                     +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                     +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                     +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                     +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                     +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                     +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                     +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                     +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                     +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                     +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                  +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                   +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                   +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                      +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                      +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                      +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                      +&gt; JBS14 JBS(2)                                       </pre>
<pre> IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII</pre>
<pre>1 11111 1 111+&gt; ATB04 (1) 1 11111 1 11+&gt; ATB02 (1) 1 11111 1 1+&gt; ATE02 (1) 1 11111 1 1+&gt; ATE12 (6) 1 111111 1 +&gt; JBS5 JBS(06) 1 111111 +&gt; JBS5 JBS(18) 1 11111+&gt; JBS1 JBS(21) 1 1111+&gt; JBS1 JBS(21) 1 1111+&gt; JBS1 JBS(214) 1 111+&gt; JBS1 JBS(14) 1 111+&gt; JBS1 JBS(14) 1 11+&gt; JBS1 JBS(15) 1 +&gt; JBS11 JBS(6) +&gt; UCFRC12 UCFR(6) +&gt; UCFRC12 UCFR(6)</pre>

#### Figure. 13 The Phylogenetic Relations between all hzo Sequences Under Study

Unifrac phylogenetic tree illustrates the relations between all the hzo sequences analyzed. hzo sequences from each ecosystem were clustered together using identity cut off score 97%, equivalent to the cut off normally used to distinguish between different phylotypes. The frequency of the occurrence of each phylotype was provided in parentheses. The codes provided with Atlantis II and Kebrit sequences e.g. KebritE11, represent the location of these sequences in the library plates. Meanwhile, the numbers given with the other environments' sequences denote the cluster number. The scale bar used (0.029) estimates the divergence distance between the tested phylotypes (three different amino acids per 100).



Figure 14 Weighted Unifrac Principal Component Analysis (PCoA) of hzo Sequences

Weighted Unifrac PCoA analysis using the deduced hydrazine oxidase amino acid sequences of the six examined ecosystems. The red circles represent both deep-sea hydrothermal vent and deep-sea tephra deposits samples. The green triangle represents Jiaozhou bay sediment. The purple triangle represents Upper Cape Fear river sediment. The blue square represent Atlantis II interface layer and the yellow triangle represent the Kebrit upper interface layer.

### **TABLES**

 Table 1 The Main features of the Metagenomics Libraries Constructed from the Interface Layers
 of Atlantis II Deep and Kebrit deep

Analysis features	Atlantis II Interface	Kebrit Upper
	Deep	Interface
		Deep
Number of 454 runs	1	1
Number of sequences	832,138	1,562,521
Number of Nucleotides	268,756,307 bp	470,950,183 bp
Mean Sequence length	322 ± 120 bp	301 ± 110 bp
Identified Proteins	54,917	407,643
Identified Functional	47,948	365,109
Categories		

The table presents features of the metagenomics libraries under study. These features include the number of 454 runs, the number of sequences generated, the total number of nucleotides per each library, the mean of sequence length, the number of proteins identified and finally the number of functional groups.

Number of	Best hits Accession	Hits Sources	Description
Sequences	Numbers / abundance		
81	(ADD16762) /47	Jiaozhou Bay Sediments	Hydrazine oxidoreductase
			[uncultured anaerobic
			ammonium-oxidizing bacterium]
	(ADO21164)/14	Deep sea tephra deposits	Hydrazine oxidase [uncultured
			planctomycete]
	(ADO21144)/12	Deep sea tephra deposits	Hydrazine oxidase [uncultured
			planctomycete]
	(ADD16849)/5	Jiaozhou Bay Sediments	Hydrazine oxidoreductase
			[uncultured anaerobic
			ammonium-oxidizing bacterium]
	(BAF36964)/2	Planctomycete KSU-1	Hydrazine-oxidizing enzyme
			[planctomycete KSU-1]
	(ADO21372)/1	Upper cape fear river sediment	Hydrazine oxidase [uncultured
			planctomycete]

#### Table 2 BlastX Results of the 81 Sequences Retrieved from Atlantis II Interface Library

This Table discusses the number of Atlantis II deep interface library sequences aligned to entries in Genebank nr database using blastx similarity search tool with E value cut off score 10<sup>-5</sup>. The best first matches' accession numbers, with their abundances among the examined sequences, were presented. The table also included the isolation sources where the hits have been recovered and its analysis description as retrieved from the Genebank database.

Number of	Best hits Accession	Hits sources	Description
Sequences	Numbers /abundance		
44	(AD021151)/34	Deep Sea	Hydrazine oxidase [uncultured
		Tephra deposits	planctomycete]
	(AD021124) /4	Deep Sea	Hydrazine oxidase [uncultured
		Hydrothermal	planctomycete]
		vent sediment	
	(ADD16812) /4	Jiaozhou Bay	Hydrazine oxidoreductase
		Sediment	[uncultured anaerobic ammonium-
			oxidizing bacterium]
	(ADO 2115)/1	Deep sea	Hydrazine oxidase [uncultured
		hydrothermal	planctomycete]
		vent	
	(ADD16823)/ 1	Jiaozhou bay	Hydrazine oxidoreductase
		sediment	[uncultured anaerobic ammonium-
			oxidizing bacterium]

#### Table 3 BlastX Results of the 44 Sequences Retrieved from Kebrit Upper Interface Layer

This Table discusses the number of Kebrit deep upper interface library sequences aligned to entries in Genebank nr database using blastx similarity search tool considering E value cut off score 10<sup>-5</sup>. The best first matches accession numbers with their abundances among the examined sequences were presented. The table also included the isolation sources where the hits have been isolated and its analysis description as retrieved from the Genebank database.

Sample ID	Number of clones	Number of	Chao1	Shannon	Simpson
		OTUs			
		(0.03)			
Atlantis II -Interface	81	8	8.333	1.33353	0.368827
Kebrit Upper Interface	44	9	12	1.719554	0.208245

Table 4 The Number of Sequences, Observed Hzo Based OTUs (0.03), and Alpha DiversityIndices of the Samples Under Study

The table was created using mothur software and presents  $\alpha$  diversity results of the examined samples at a cut-off score of 0.03. It shows the number of clones examined in addition to the number of OTUs detected using similarity cut off score 97%. Chao1 was applied to indicate the level of coverage of the phylotypes in each layer. Shannon and Simpson indices were calculated to reflect the richness and the diversity of the samples examined.

Environment Name	Hzo Sequences Count
Upper cape fear river sediment (UCFR)	101
Jiaozhou Bay Sediments (JBS)	403
Atlantis II brine deep interface layer (AT)	81
Deep Sea Hydrothermal vent sediment (DSHV)	20
Kebrit brine deep upper interface layer (Kebrit)	44
Deep sea tephra deposits (DSHV)	24
Total Count	671

Table 5 The Ecosystems Involved in the Comparative Study and Number of Hzo Recovered fromEach Environment

The table was generated by Unifrac software, which represents all the ecosystems included in the study, its abbreviations as provided in the parentheses, and the total number of hzo sequences analyzed from each sample.

# Table 6 The Differences Between the Anammox Communities Existing in the Ecosystems UnderStudy Using P-test

P-test	AT-int	DSHV	DSTD	JBS	КВ	UCFR
AT-int	-	1	0	0	0.02	0
DSHV	1	-	1	1	1	0
DSTD	0	1	-	1	0	0.03
JBS	0	1	1	-	0	0
КВ	0.02	1	0	0	-	0
UCFR	0	0	0.03	0	0	-

(< 0.001) Highly significant (0.001-0.01) Significant (0.01-0.05) Marginally significant (0.05-0.1) Suggestive (> 0.1) Not significant

# Table 7 The Differences Between the Anammox Communities Existing in the Ecosystems UnderStudy Using Unifrac Significance test

Unifrac Significance test	AT-int	DSHV	DSTD	JBS	КВ	UCFR
AT-int	-	0.77	0.11	0	0.17	0
DSHV	0.77	-	0.65	0.39	0.08	0.34
DSTD	0.11	0.65	-	0.42	0	0.18
JBS	0	0.39	0.42	-	0	0
КВ	0.17	0.08	0	0	-	0
UCFR	0	0.34	0.18	0	0	-
< 0.001) Highly significant	(0.001-0.01) Significant	(0.01-0.05) Marginally significant	(0.05-0.1) Suggestive	(> 0.1) Not significant		
## **Table 8 Lineage Specific Test**

Environment											
	Node	P Value	Name	Observed	Expected						
	node2	0.010624657	AT-int	1	0.706408346						
	node2	0.010624657	DSHV	0	0.178837556						
	node2	0.010624657	DSTD	0	0.214605067						
	node2	0.010624657	JBS	0	3.603576751						
	node2	0.010624657	KB	5	0.393442623						
	node2	0.010624657	UCFR	0	0.903129657						
	node5	0.010624657	AT-int	78	78.29359165						
	node5	0.010624657	DSHV	20	19.82116244						
	node5	0.010624657	DSTD	24	23.78539493						
	node5	0.010624657	JBS	403	399.3964232						
	node5	0.010624657	КВ	39	43.60655738						
	node5	0.010624657	UCFR	101	100.0968703						

The table demonstrates the most unique *hzo* sequences that contribute in the differentiation between Anammox communities analyzed. The output locates the sequences' nodes on the Unifrac generated tree, the P-value of the test, the corresponding environments where the sequences retrieved, the number of sequences observed and the expected number if the samples are uniform in its size.





Supplementary Figure 1 Unifrac Cluster Model of the Two Red Sea Brine Pools and Other Similar Ecosystems.

The Unifrac cluster model depicts the relations between the Anammox bacterial communities dwelling the brine pool interface layers under study and other ecosystems. The obtained results are supported by Jacknife confidence value Supplementary table 1 The Number of Atlantis II Interface and Kebrit Upper Interface Layers Related Hits and its Corresponding Percentages, which are Assigned to Different Bacterial Phyla as Identified using MG-RAST Server Cloud.

Kebrit Upper interface	hits: 518180	Atlantis II interface	hits: 113433
Proteobacteria	244408 (47.17%)	Proteobacteria	97508 (85.96%)
Bacteroidetes	43084 (8.31%)	Actinobacteria	4516 (3.98%)
Chlorobi	12560 (2.42%)	Chloroflexi	992 (0.87%)
Acidobacteria	4300 (0.83%)	Chlorobi	599 (0.53%)
Bacteria	5811 (1.12%)	Deinococcus-Thermus	400 (0.35%)
Firmicutes	110679 (21.36%)	Bacteroidetes	1390 (1.23%)
Planctomycetes	4743 (0.92%)	Firmicutes	5142 (4.53%)
Chloroflexi	9185 (1.77%)	Cyanobacteria	959 (0.85%)
Nitrospirae	2725 (0.53%)	Planctomycetes	295 (0.26%)
Verrucomicrobia	4805 (0.93%)	Thermotogae	259 (0.23%)
Cyanobacteria	13764 (2.66%)	Bacteria	214 (0.19%)
Spirochaetes	6643 (1.28%)	Nitrospirae	93 (0.08%)
Candidatus Poribacteria	716 (0.14%)	Acidobacteria	236 (0.21%)
Actinobacteria	30833 (5.95%)	Aquificae	302 (0.27%)
Deferribacteres	1174 (0.23%)	Lentisphaerae	65 (0.06%)
Aquificae	4285 (0.83%)	Dictyoglomi	57 (0.05%)
Lentisphaerae	1086 (0.21%)	Verrucomicrobia	168 (0.15%)
Chrysiogenetes	546 (0.11%)	Deferribacteres	27 (0.02%)
Dictyoglomi	1066 (0.21%)	Elusimicrobia	24 (0.02%)
Thermotogae	4080 (0.79%)	Chrysiogenetes	17 (0.01%)
Deinococcus-Thermus	3123 (0.60%)	Tenericutes	28 (0.02%)
Synergistetes	2224 (0.43%)	Synergistetes	25 (0.02%)
Fibrobacteres	377 (0.07%)	Chlamydiae	31 (0.03%)
Fusobacteria	3274 (0.63%)	Spirochaetes	59 (0.05%)
Chlamydiae	1449 (0.28%)	Fusobacteria	26 (0.02%)
Elusimicrobia	301 (0.06%)	Gemmatimonadetes	1 (0.00%)
Tenericutes	895 (0.17%)		
Gemmatimonadetes	44 (0.01%)		

This table describes the number of hits detected in both Atlantis II interface and Kebrit upper interface layers and its corresponding percentages as annotated using BlastX non-redundant database adopted by MG-RAST server cloud and maintaining at least 50% identity and minimum E-value cut off score 10<sup>-5</sup>.

Supplementary table 2 The Distribution of Planctomycetes Related Hits Recovered from Atlantis

II Interface and Kebrit Upper Interface Layers Among its Different Species.

species	<ul> <li>Atlant</li> </ul>	is II Interface 💌	Percentage2	Kebrit Upper interfa 💌	Percentage3
Blastopirellula marina		95	26.46	1183	19.28
Gemmata sp. Wa1-1		0	0.00	2	0.03
Isosphaera pallida		32	8.91	562	9.16
Pirellula staleyi		149	41.50	964	15.71
Planctomyces brasiliensis		45	12.53	782	12.74
Planctomyces limnophilus		17	4.74	1317	21.46
Planctomyces maris		20	5.57	1232	20.07
Rhodopirellula baltica		0	0.00	2	0.03
Rhodopirellula sp. SWK21		0	0.00	1	0.02
Uncultured Planctomycetales bacterium HF0200_11L05		0	0.00	9	0.15
Uncultured Planctomycetales bacterium HF0500_02G17		0	0.00	10	0.16
Uncultured Planctomycetales bacterium HF0500_40D21		0	0.00		0.00
Uncultured Planctomycetales bacterium HF0770_03I01		0	0.00	51	0.83
Uncultured planctomycete 3FN		0	0.00	3	0.05
Uncultured planctomycete		1	0.28	14	0.23
Uncultured planctomycete 13FN		0	0.00	3	0.05
Uncultured planctomycete 6N14		0	0.00	1	0.02
Uncultured Planctomycetales bacterium HF0130_29M04		0	0.00	1	0.02
		359		6137	

This table demonstrates the number of hits and its corresponding percentages that are allocated for each *Planctomycetes* related species. These assignments were annotated using BlastX non-redundant database adopted by MG-RAST server cloud. Minimum identity cut off score 10<sup>-5</sup> and identity cut off score 50% were applied.

s.